




July 30, 2021 

The Honourable Nigel Clarke, DPhil, MP

Minister of Finance and the Public Service

Ministry of Finance and the Public Service 

30 National Heroes Circle

Kingston 4

Dear Minister Clarke:

On behalf of the Board of Directors, I have the honour of submitting to you 

the Annual Report of the Jamaica Deposit Insurance Corporation for the 

Financial Year 2020/2021 and a copy of the Corporation’s Accounts as at 

March 31, 2021, duly certified by its Auditors. This is in accordance with the 

Deposit Insurance Act, subsection 11(1) and the Public Bodies Management 

and Accountability Act, subsection 3(2).  

Yours sincerely 

Myrtle Halsall, OD 

Chairman



VISION
To protect depositors and contribute 
to the highest levels of financial system 
confidence and stability in Jamaica; 
leveraging Financial System Safety Net 
partnerships and recognizing consumer 
expectations.
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MISSION
IN CONTRIBUTING TO THE STABILITY AND CONFIDENCE 
IN JAMAICA’S FINANCIAL SYSTEM THE JAMAICA DEPOSIT 
INSURANCE CORPORATION WILL:

Protect insured deposits against loss due to the non-
viability of Deposit Taking Institutions;

Facilitate the resolution of non-viable Deposit Taking 
Institutions consistent with governing legislation and 
international standards;

Manage the Deposit Insurance Fund consistent with its 
statutory objects;

Support the promotion of financial consumer protection 
and financial inclusion;

Take such necessary steps to minimize its exposure to loss.

To execute its Mission, the Corporation will create a knowledge 
management environment which promotes excellence in 
professional and technical expertise and allow employees to 
realize their full potential.
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CORE VALUES 

ACCOUNTABILITY

We accept our responsibilities in relation to the 
Corporation’s objects, its strategies and initiatives 
and carry them out in a transparent manner.

COMMUNICATION 

We are committed to sharing information with all 
our stakeholders clearly and in a timely manner 
while encouraging feedback.

EXCELLENCE 

We continuously measure and monitor productivity 
to improve our operations.

PROFESSIONALISM 

We pursue the highest level of competence and 
integrity in the performance of our duties.

TEAMWORK 

We preserve an environment of collaborative 
efforts, mutual support and respect, where our best 
solutions come from embracing each employee’s 
unique talents.
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ACRONYMS

BOJ Bank of Jamaica
BSA  Banking Services Act
CEO  Chief Executive Officer
COM Committee of Management 
DIA Deposit Insurance Act  
DIF  Deposit Insurance Fund
DIO Deposit Insurance Organisation 
DIS Deposit Insurance Scheme 
DTIs Deposit Taking Institutions
ERM Enterprise Risk Management 
FAAA  Financial Administration and Audit Act 
FHC  Financial Holding Company
FISC Financial Inclusion Steering Committee
FRC  Financial Regulatory Committee 
FSB Financial Stability Board
FSC Financial Services Commission
FSSC Financial System Stability Committee
FSSN Financial System Safety Net
GDP  Gross Domestic Product
GOJ Government of Jamaica 
IADI International Association of Deposit Insurers
ICT Information and Communication Technology
IMF  International Monetary Fund 
MoFPS Ministry of Finance and the Public Service
MRA Monitoring and Risk Assessment
NFCMP National Financial Crisis Management Plan  
NFIS  National Financial Inclusion Strategy 
NIR Net International Reserves
PBMA Public Bodies Management and Accountability Act 
PMIS  Payout Management Information System
SRR Special Resolution Regime
TWG Technical Working Group
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GLOSSARY OF TERMS

Banking Services Act (BSA)
The Act of Parliament making provisions with regard to the supervision of banks, financial holding companies and 
other financial institutions and for connected matters.

Banking System
The deposit-taking financial institutions (DTIs), comprising Commercial Banks, Merchant Banks and Building Societies, 
licensed by the Bank of Jamaica.

Coverage Limit
The maximum payment the JDIC can make out of the Deposit Insurance Fund to a depositor should their insured 
financial institution (Policyholder/member institution) fail. The coverage limit and rules of coverage are prescribed 
under the Deposit Insurance Act.

Deposit
A sum of money paid on terms under which it will be repaid with or without interest or a premium, and either on 
demand or at a time or in circumstances agreed. However, it does not include money paid which is referable to the 
provision of property or services or the giving of security.

Deposit Insurance Act
The Act of Parliament establishing the JDIC and setting out its objects, powers and functions.

Deposit Insurance Fund
A Fund established under the Deposit Insurance Act to pay depositors should their insured financial institution 
(Policyholder/member institution) fail or to offer temporary financial assistance with security to Policyholders in a 
state of financial distress. It is ordinarily made up of premiums collected from Policyholders and investment income, 
but may also include contributions by way of advances from Government, amounts borrowed by the Corporation for 
the Fund and amounts recovered from the liquidation of assets of Policyholders.

Deposit Insurance Fund Ratio
The Deposit Insurance Fund expressed as a percentage of the total insured deposits (DIF/Total Insured Deposits) of 
all insured financial institutions.

Deposit Insurance Premium
Amount paid by Policyholders into the DIF in accordance with the requirements of the DIA.

Deposit Insurance Scheme
A Scheme established, usually by government, to protect depositors against risk of loss arising from failure of a bank 
or other deposit taking financial institution. In Jamaica the DIS was established under the DIA, 1998, and provides a 
formal system for the Government of Jamaica to address problems which may arise in the financial sector. A licensed 
DTI’s membership in the DIS is mandatory in Jamaica.
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GLOSSARY OF TERMS Depositor
A person entitled, or prospectively entitled, to repayment of a deposit, or a portion of a deposit, whether made by 
him or not.

Financial Distress
A financial institution is in a state of financial distress if (a) it becomes insolvent, that is to say, a winding up order has 
been made by a court against that institution or a resolution for a creditor’s voluntary winding up has been passed; 
(b) there exists in relation to the institution any condition precedent to the exercise of the powers of the Minister in 
the interest of and for the protection of depositors, to take such steps or apply such sanctions as authorized under 
the Banking Services Act, Bank of Jamaica Act or Building Societies Act, as the case may require; (c) the institution 
has failed to satisfy prudential criteria and minimum solvency standards prescribed under its governing legislation; 
or (d) it is unable to pay its debts.

Financial System Safety Net
The agencies that comprise a country’s Financial System Safety Net (FSSN) work together to ensure that a robust 
regulatory framework is in place to promote and maintain financial and economic stability. In Jamaica the FSSN 
partners are the Ministry of Finance & the Public Service, the Bank of Jamaica, the Financial Services Commission, 
and the Jamaica Deposit Insurance Corporation.

Insurable Deposits
Deposits received or held by a Policyholder from or on behalf of a depositor, but are not deposits from another 
Policyholder; or from a statutory body or authority or government company.

Insured Deposit
That portion of insurable deposits that is within the coverage limit prescribed under the Deposit Insurance Act.

Policyholders
Deposit-taking financial institutions (Commercial Banks, Merchant Banks and Building Societies) insured under the 
Deposit Insurance Scheme, also referred to as member institutions.

Premium Assessment Rate
The rate prescribed by the Minister responsible for finance, on the recommendation of the Corporation, which is 
applied to the insurable deposits of Policyholders to determine deposit insurance premiums payable by Policyholders 
to the Corporation.

Resolution
The exercise of powers and the application of tools by the safety net authorities empowered to apply them in 
respect of a failing or failed financial institution, and which are designed to treat with a financial institution before 
it is balance sheet insolvent by way of bail-in; purchase and assumption; merger and acquisition; bridge-bank or 
temporary public ownership, with a view to maintaining financial system stability while minimizing the resort to 
public funds. Resolution may also involve the reimbursement of insured deposits to depositors and the winding up 
of a failed bank with a view to maximizing recoveries..
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This was a remarkable year when the JDIC mandate 
and operations was uniquely validated, even though 
the country did not experience a financial crisis 
and there was no bank failure. In March 2020, the         
COVID-19 global pandemic was declared by the World 
Health Organisation (WHO) with the rapid spread of 
the coronavirus across national borders. With millions 
of deaths from the virus worldwide, hospitals and 
health care systems were severely overwhelmed.  
As national governments, including the Jamaican 
Government, responded with the required pervasive 
restrictions on personal contact locally and 
international travel, economic activity was severely 
impacted. There was the real risk to the operations of 
JDIC Policyholders as the economic impact was felt 
by bank customers. JDIC, together with its Financial 
System Safety Net Partners responded to the risks by 
a strategic pivot to crisis management planning and 
simulations to be able to successfully deal with any 
contingency from Policyholder risk. In addition to the 
risk of Policyholders’ stressed conditions potentially 
resulting in a failure of institutions, there was also the 
risk to the personal and family health of staff due to 
the virus and so the Corporation implemented all the 
best practices recommended by the World Health 
Organisation and the Government to ensure the 
health of staff.

- The COVID-19 Pandemic Economic Impact

The required response of the Jamaican Government, 
as with governments globally, curtailed economic 

and productive capacity, impacting international 
supply chains, industries and sectors that were 
heavily labour intensive and those such as the 
tourism sector where small island states like Jamaica 
gain a significant contribution to the country’s Gross 
Domestic Product (GDP). The unemployment rate 
also increased as the Jamaican economy experienced 
significant slowdown, volatility and uncertainties, 
many of which remained at the end of the financial 
year.

- Economic Resilience Maintained

Despite the negative projections for end FY2020/21, 
however, the country performed much better 
than forecasted. Real GDP is estimated to have 
contracted by 10.8 percent, an improvement from 
the 18.4 percent originally projected, with the March 
quarter 2021 estimated to have declined by 5.7 
percent, an improvement when compared with the 
9.4 percent decline for quarter ending December 
2020.  This reflected a tempering of the rate of 
economic contraction and an indication that growth 
is returning to the country. This is even more evident 
with the reduction in the employment rate which is 
down to 8.9 percent; the increase in tourist arrivals 
and bookings; unprecedented levels of remittances; 
recovery in the Business Process Outsourcing sector 
to pre-COVID-19 levels; continued growth in the Net 
International Reserve and relative stability in the 
exchange rate.

CHAIRMAN’S REMARKS  
Myrtle Halsall, OD
Chairman
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-  JDIC Policyholder Resilience Maintained

Prior to the COVID-19 pandemic Jamaica was on 
a growth trajectory and Policyholder institutions 
experienced year on year profitability.  It is notable 
that in the years post the 2008 Global Financial Crisis 
the supervisory authority for JDIC Policyholders, the 
Bank of Jamaica, had worked with Policyholders in 
the phased implementation of key Basle Committee 
recommended standards for liquidity, capital 
and counterparty risk.  During this financial year 
Policyholder risk was able to be mitigated with this 
regulatory strengthening, which continues with 
the lessons being learned from the impact of the 
pandemic.  The Bank of Jamaica also opened an offer 
for liquidity facilities to both the banking and credit 
union sectors for institutions that might be in need 
and those who took up this offer were able to comply 
with repayment conditions.  Despite the challenges 
in the economy Policyholders recorded asset growth 
and profitability and remained solvent. Deposit 
growth in the banking system maintained a relatively 
stable grow rate being approximately 14 percent in 
this financial year compared to a growth rate of 13 
percent in the previous financial year.  Policyholders 
were able to respond positively by offering their 
customers moratoriums, loan extensions, reduction 
in fees and special loan facilities to maintain and 
stimulate commerce. The Jamaican regulatory 
response has been similar to those of many countries 
and similarly the unwinding of the economic and 
regulatory measures will have to be managed 
appropriately to avoid or mitigate any attendant 
downside risk.

-  Increase in the JDIC Deposit Insurance 
Coverage Limit to $1,200,000

While not specifically in response to mitigating the 
impact of the pandemic, the JDIC Deposit Insurance 
Coverage Limit made available to depositors if 
their bank becomes insolvent was increased to 
$1,200,000 on August 31, 2020 seeking to restore 
its real value from the $600,000 limit set in 2007. 
With this increase the deposits insured within this 
limit increased by 40 percent.  In its consideration of 
the increased limit, JDIC also determined that there 

was no need to increase the premium rate of 15 basis 
points charged to Policyholders, and this was well 
received by the sector.  This increase in the Deposit 
Insurance Coverage Limit contributed to confidence 
in the financial system during this period. At this new 
coverage level, the JDIC is covering approximately 
97.3 percent of deposit accounts in the financial 
system, well in line with the international standard 
of 90-95 percent.

-  The Deposit Insurance Fund

By the end of the financial year the Deposit Insurance 
Fund reached $28.1 billion an increase of 13.8 percent 
over the previous year and continuing a 5-year 
growth trend.  The annual Fund Adequacy Review 
results indicated that it was adequate to meet the 
assessed risk posed by Policyholder institutions and 
the Corporation kept sufficiently liquid investments 
to meet its projected and potential liabilities.   

-  Strengthening of JDIC Institutional Capacity

As a Board, the lessons from the financial year 
highlighted the continuing challenge of ensuring that 
JDIC can maintain its institutional capacity, primarily 
being an expert cadre of staff.  Recognizing that the 
JDIC is critical to financial system confidence and 
stability, it must as a regulatory counterpart in the 
Financial System Safety Net maintain an employment 
model attractive to dedicated professionals. The 
Board focused its attention very keenly on solutions 
to this challenge to support its mandate for ensuring 
succession and continues to liaise with the MoFPS in 
this regard.

-  Corporate Governance

The Board remained cognizant of its fiduciary 
responsibilities and gave due focus to the effective 
performance of its Committees, which very ably 
supported the Board in its work and the review of 
the various corporate governance policies with the 
required support of the Management. The Board also 
undertook its Board Assessment and the required 
assessment of the Chief Executive Officer for the 
FY2019/20.
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OPPORTUNITIES

While we continue to offer sincere condolences 
and commiserate with our countrymen in regard to 
the hundreds of lives tragically lost in Jamaica due 
to the pandemic, there were great opportunities 
spawned for the country, businesses and individuals 
with the acceleration of a number emerging 
technologies characterized by the ongoing 
digitization of financial and other services and also 
radical changes to more efficient work models 
including the adoption of remote working.  The 
Bank of Jamaica put its financial innovation Sand 
Box in place and also commissioned the modeling 
of a Central Bank Digital Currency (CBDC), for roll 
out of a pilot in 2022. CBDC has the capacity to 
change the environment of banking business on 
a significant magnitude. This is projected to help 
increase financial inclusion exponentially but, 
of course, also brings attendant risks.  JDIC has 
started to examine these potential risk areas to 
allow it to promote the best public policy options 
for management of these risks and the protection 
of the public who will likely be adversely impacted 
by these risks.  JDIC look forward to forging a 
mandate that supports this.  

CLOSING 

An overall objective assessment saw the JDIC being 
successful in the execution on its mandate this 
year. This was only possible due to the dedication 
and professionalism of the staff and their 
commitment to the task at hand in-spite of the 
challenges. I must specifically thank the CEO and 
the senior Management team of the Corporation 
for their continued hard work and for making the 
job of the Board that much easier, given their focus 
and devotion in ensuring the mandate of the JDIC 
is achieved. I remain honoured to work with this 
team as we continue to serve this organisation and 
by extension, Jamaica in contributing to financial 
system confidence and stability. Again, thank you 
team on behalf of the Board for a job well done. 

I thank my fellow Board members who supported 
me with their valuable and dedicated contribution 
to the work of the Board and its various Committees. 
We look forward to achieving even more for the 
next fiscal year and beyond. 

Myrtle Halsall, OD
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CEO’S REPORT ON OPERATIONS
Antoinette McKain
CEO

“Operational Resilience to Proactively Mitigate the Impacts of the COVID-19 
Pandemic on JDIC Policyholders and Maintaining Financial System Stability”

JDIC operations focus for financial year 2020/21 
can largely be characterized by a pivot to ensuring 
that it would be able to achieve its mandate with 
sufficient and effective responsiveness to deal with 
any adverse impact and uncertainties wrought by 
the global COVID-19 pandemic on the condition 
and performance of Policyholders, and not less 
on the well-being and productivity of JDIC staff.  
Policyholders (commercial banks, merchant banks 
and building societies) at year end were sufficiently 
liquid, well capitalized, profitable and solvent. JDIC 
staff also remained healthy and productive, despite 
the ravages of the pandemic on people’s lives.

Government’s necessary actions to reduce the 
spread of the coronavirus causing the pandemic, with 
the unprecedented limitations on personal contact 
among citizens and on international travel, naturally 
impacted economic activity, bringing tourism, a 
significant contributor to GDP down by more than 80 
percent. The unemployment rate spiked upward of 
9 percent at the beginning of the year carrying with 
it the potential for the most adverse consequences 
on JDIC Policyholders’ customers to sustain loan 
repayments, potentially putting the institutions 
performance and viability at risk. 

JDIC’s explicit statutory mandate, under the larger 
public policy objective for maintaining financial 
system confidence and stability, remained the 
insurance of deposits held by its Policyholders and 
managing the Deposit Insurance Fund (the Fund/
DIF) against the risk of loss; and to act as liquidator/
trustee in the winding up of insolvent Policyholder 
institutions, their holding companies and subsidiaries. 
As a regulatory counterpart of the Bank of 
Jamaica’s (BOJ’s) supervisory function JDIC worked 
collaboratively with the BOJ, and its other Financial 
System Safety Net Partners (FSSN) being the 
Financial Services Commission (FSC) and the Ministry 
of Finance and the Public Service (MoFPS) to ensure 
that the required information on the macro economy 
and the prudential condition of its Policyholders and 
other of financial institutions, was readily available 
and sufficient for the required enhanced monitoring 
by JDIC of Policyholder risk. This allowed JDIC to 
make timely strategic decisions on the focus of its 
operations.

Of note the BOJ also implemented a number of 
initiatives aimed at continuing to preserve financial 
system stability, including offering liquidity support 
to banks and other financial institutions. During 
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the period the BOJ maintained its accommodative 
monetary policy stance, holding its policy interest 
rate at 0.50 percent with a view of maintaining 
inflation within the target range of 4.0 to 6.0 
percent and encouraging economic recovery. The 
BOJ committed to deploying additional measures, 
including a reduction of the policy rate and the 
cash reserves requirement, to ensure the continued 
liquidity to the financial system and to maintain 
orderly conditions within the foreign exchange 
market.

-  Resilience in the Economy and on Policyholders’ 
Condition and Performance

By the end of the financial year it was evident 
that there was a sufficient level of resilience in 
the Jamaican economy which had benefited from 
prior years’ fiscal discipline and the Government’s 
provision of support to various vulnerable persons 
within the economy and other stimulus initiatives. 
Consequently, all economic indicators remained 
satisfactory at year end. Notwithstanding, it was clear 
that there would be continuing uncertainty relating 
to the magnitude and length of the pandemic and as 
well its continued impact with the ability to create 
greater stressors in the economy and compromise to 
the operations of JDIC Policyholders.

JDIC Policyholders remained adequately liquid, 
capitalized, solvent and sufficiently compliant with 
prudential standards. Consistent with the BOJ 
liquidity support offered to banks, their customers 
were in turn offered moratoriums on their loans. 
Total banking system assets grew by 12.0 percent or 
$223.6 billion to total $2,083.7 billion at the end of the 
fiscal year, relative to 10.0 percent or $169.0 billion 
for the corresponding period in 2020. This growth 
was largely driven by increases in investments, and 
loans and advances. The value of total deposits 
within the system grew by 14 percent compared to 
13 percent growth in the previous year. Estimated 
insured deposits increased by 40 percent with an 
increase in the Deposit Insurance Coverage Limit 
to $1,200,000 effective 31st August 2020, up from 
$600,000. Similarly, the number of insurable deposit 
accounts increased by 6.5 percent to 4.6 million 
accounts. The average insurable deposit balance 

increased by 10.6 percent to $285,659, up from the 
$258,281 in the corresponding period.  

 -  JDIC Proactive Readiness Strategy   
 Responsiveness

In the context of its mandate and the vagaries 
wrought by the impact of the global COVID- 19 
pandemic, this year saw JDIC pivot it operation’s 
focus on ensuring the efficacy of its financial crisis 
management plans, effectiveness of its depositor 
payout processes and enhancing its resolution 
management capacity to be proactive in the event of 
being required to deal with the adverse pass through 
to its Policyholders resulting in their non-viability or 
insolvency. Important also to JDIC operations was 
continued enhanced monitoring of Policyholder 
institutions; targeted stakeholder collaborations and 
its public education and awareness campaigns and 
strengthening its information and communication 
technology infrastructure. Key to delivering on most 
of its strategic business objectives was the ongoing 
dialogue and collaboration with safety net partners, 
Policyholders and key international partners.

 

-  JDIC and Policyholder Engagement 

In addition to the usual ongoing collaborations with 
Policyholder institutions under the Policy of Deposit 
Insurance, the respective Policyholder heads and 
senior officers participated in virtual meetings with 
myself and senior JDIC management officers to 
share information on key issues. These included: 
changes in product offerings and distributions 
channels in response to fintech and digitization of 
financial services; any business pivots consequent 
on the COVID- 19 pandemic; the on-going work with 
Policyholders to ensure effective systems interface 
with JDIC systems for depositor protection; JDIC 
resolution and crisis management preparedness; and 
work on new legislation which will enhance financial 
institution crisis management and resolution 
capacity of the authorities. We made commitments 
to continue the engagement. These meetings were 
followed by JDIC hosting of a virtual Policyholders’ 
Forum for the Policyholder operations officers 
and front line staff. These sessions focused on the 
operations of the JDIC and emerging developments 
and trends in the deposit insurance industry.  During 
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the period four (4) Policyholders training sessions 
were held with an additional three (3) scheduled for 
April 2021. The training sessions included over 400 
participants primarily comprising Policyholder staff. 
An online deposit insurance training platform is to 
be developed to complement the present training 
methodology. 

CORE OPERATIONS STRATEGIES

-  Building Sustainable Human Resource 
Capacity

Strengthening of its human resource capacity 
through the recruitment and retention of expert 
staff remained critical to the Corporation ensuring 
the sustainability of its mandate and delivery on its 
strategic objectives. The recommendations from 
a comprehensive review of the JDIC organisation 
model and structure, evaluation of commensurate 
job requirements and the supporting reclassification 
of salaries are under the review of the MoFPS for 
approval to support sustainable human resource 
capacity for the JDIC. During the year, critical capacity 
enhancing opportunities for the JDIC team members 
were accessed by them. These included virtual local 
and international professional and technical training, 
workshops and conference participations primarily 
responsive to regulatory and deposit insurance 
solutions relating to financial institution conditions 
and performance consequent on the economic 
impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. 

-  Proactive Readiness Strategy - Strengthening 
the Corporation’s Resolution and Crisis 
Management Capacity

During the year focus was placed on testing and 
enhancing the Corporation’s procedures and systems 
in relation to: resolving non-viable Policyholder 
institutions; making depositor reimbursements; 
operationalizing the Crisis Preparedness and 
Management Plan, as well as conducting more 
frequent crisis management simulations. A Financial 
Regulatory Committee (FRC) technical working group 
led by JDIC senior executives started the update of 
the 2015 National Financial Crisis Management Plan. 
The FRC institutions senior teams also participated 

in a Financial Crisis Management Workshop and 
Simulation led by the Toronto Centre – Global 
Leadership in Financial Supervision to identify gaps 
within the existing framework to allow these to be 
addressed strategically in the context of various 
constraints.

In regard to key legislative reforms for the financial 
sector, the Corporation continued its collaboration 
with the other members of the FSSN to strengthen 
the framework for the administrative resolution 
of non-viable financial institutions, before they 
become balance sheet insolvent taking into account 
no creditor worst off principles; to establish funding 
sources for resolutions premised on shareholders 
bearing the first losses; and efficient winding up 
processes for insolvent financial institutions where 
systemic consequences are not contemplated. The 
effective implementation and operationalization 
of the new framework will see the removal of 
a resort to the public purse to fund the costs of 
resolutions of non-viable financial institutions. The 
new legislation will better align Jamaica’s framework 
with the international benchmark standards, the 
FSB’s Key Attributes of Effective Resolution Regimes 
for Financial Institutions. This will see inter alia: the 
designation of the Bank of Jamaica, with its existing 
mandate for financial stability, become the Resolution 
Authority, effectively replacing the Minister 
responsible for finance under existing law, and the 
JDIC a Resolution Administrator. The JDIC’s role as 
Resolution Administrator will be consistent with 
its existing powers under the DIA to act as receiver 
and liquidator and to restructure Policyholders, their 
holding companies and subsidiaries.

-  Newer Imperatives - Fintech, Suptech, Regtech

With growing fintech dominance in the provision 
of financial services, together with the BOJ’s 
consequent adoption of the “Sand Box” approach to 
advancing the appropriate regulatory frameworks, as 
well as the BOJ’s intended implementation in 2022 
of a pilot to test the introduction of Central Bank 
Digital Currency (CBDC), JDIC started research on 
the implications of these newer technologies. JDIC 
recognizes that regulatory reforms must support 
financial inclusion objectives and economic growth 
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anticipated from these newer adaptations, while 
ensuring the safety of the public who are the targets 
of these services. JDIC will therefore seek to ensure 
that it is able to promote the best public policy 
options for the protection of the users of these newer 
digitized financial services which will characterize 
the future. JDIC’s digital transformation strategy will 
be designed to aid in the seamless implementation 
of these options.

- Annual Deposit Insurance Fund Adequacy 
Evaluation

The annual statutory evaluation of the Deposit 
Insurance Fund (the Fund/DIF) was conducted against 
the macroeconomic developments, with emphasis 
on the uncertainties brought on by the COVID-19 
pandemic and its impact on Policyholder institutions.  
The annual evaluation is in order to ensure risk to 
Policyholders is assessed to make a determination 
of the adequacy of the Fund to meet its objective 
of protecting depositors within a specified period. 
Due to the pandemic and associated risk, a mid-year 
evaluation of the Fund was also done to determine 
if the prior findings and recommendations remained 
valid.  Based on the mid-year assessment, it was 
determined that the DIF remained adequate to cover 
existing and potential liabilities for the year ahead. 
The risks posed by Policyholders did not indicate that 
insolvency or resolutions would be anticipated.

Additionally, the Corporation in conjunction with 
the IDB, as part of their Technical Cooperation 
Financial System Reform Support Programme and 
their contribution to the further strengthening of 
Jamaica’s financial system, developed a terms of 
reference for the engagement of a consultant to 
conduct an independent assessment of the Fund for 
completion in FY2021/22.

- Increase in the Deposit Insurance Coverage 
Limit to $1,200,000

The level of deposit insurance coverage was 
reviewed to ensure that it remained credible. 
Effective August 31, 2020 the coverage limit was 
increased to $1,200,000 up from $600,000. At 

this increased level, estimated insured deposits 
(calculated on December 2020 data) accounted for 
39.5 percent of the value of insurable deposits up 
by approximately 7-9 percent. International deposit 
insurance best practice standards recognize that a 
credible coverage limit is critical in mitigating bank 
runs in the event of a bank failure. The increase in 
the Deposit Insurance Coverage Limit served to 
boost depositors’ confidence during the year. 

- Operational Efficiency and Information and 
Communication Technology - Enhancing the 
ICT Infrastructure

The Corporation implemented several upgrades 
to enhance its ICT infrastructure. An ICT disaster 
recovery simulation was also conducted which 
indicated the Corporation was prepared in terms 
of its offsite back-up capability. Beginning in the 
new financial year 2021/22, the Corporation will 
undertake a more formalized digital transformation 
strategy, such that the ICT strategy better aligns 
with the objectives and initiatives for increased 
operational efficiency of the JDIC. 

- Public Education and Awareness Strategy

During the financial year the Corporation continued 
to engage its publics, ensuring depositors remained 
assured of the protection offered under the DIS, 
in particular given the uncertainties consequent 
to the pandemic. With the increase in the deposit 
insurance coverage limit, the Corporation 
heightened its advertising and other elements of its 
public education campaign, which further served to 
promote the JDIC brand and the DIS. Of note, the 
Corporation continued to monitor the impact of 
the pandemic on the financial sector to determine 
whether there was need to further heighten the 
programme, however Policyholders remained 
resilient and financial consumers’ confidence 
seemingly undaunted.  The increased use of social 
media platforms also continued to play a significant 
role in deepening stakeholder awareness of the JDIC 
among its online audience. Additionally, to provide 
a more seamless experience for stakeholders and 
extend the reach of corporate information and 
public education among its target audience, the 
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Corporation decided to enhance the functionality 
and aesthetics of its website. The new website will 
be launched during FY2021/22. The financial literacy 
book being developed for primary school children will 
also be completed in the new financial year.   

Collaboration with FSSN partners remained a 
significant aspect of the Corporation’s efforts to 
increase public awareness and so participation in 
interagency initiatives continued, including those 
under the National Financial Inclusion Strategy.  

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

The DIF balance at the end of year was $28.1 billion, 
an increase of 13.6 percent compared to the previous 
year. Over the last five years the DIF balance increased 
by 69.9 percent. Total assets of the Corporation at 
March 31, 2021 was $29.5 billion, an increase of 17.1 
percent or $4.3 billion over the previous year. The 
increase was due primarily to a 6.2 percent increase 
in investment securities to $25.5 billion ($24.0 billion 
in March 31, 2020) and increase in cash and cash 
equivalents.

The Corporation’s total income for the year ended 
March 31, 2021 was $3.7 billion, a 7.5 percent decrease 
over the previous period; with premium income 
being $1,696.9 million for the year, an increase 13.2 
percent compared to the previous financial year. 
Administrative expenses were $351.4 million, $63.1 
million higher than the previous year resulting 
mainly from increase in staff cost, increase in public 
expenditure and increase in depreciation.

The Overall Balance Target agreed with the MoFPS 
as an assessment of the financial performance of 
the Corporation was $2,439.65 million. The actual 
out-turn was $5,303.48 million, 117.4 percent higher 
than projected. This was due mainly to the better 
overall performance as a result of increases in 
income, reduction in administrative expenses and 
the prepayment of deposit insurance premiums. All 
key performance ratios were commendable. Refer to 
Table 18 of the Report.

CLOSING REMARKS

It was a difficult year all round with human tragedy 
due to the COVID-19 pandemic; economic disruption, 
loss of jobs, and financial system stressors. Yet, 
many new opportunities were seized as individuals 
and organisations were forced to be adaptive, 
creative and to identify new ways of doing business; 
seeking to leverage the global space more and more 
characterised by constant and rapid technological 
changes to business and work norms. I therefore take 
this opportunity to thank and commend the Senior 
Management officers of the JDIC and the entire 
JDIC team who responded quickly in adapting to all 
the new norms, allowing the JDIC to be sufficiently 
responsive. I give special thanks to the Chairman and 
Board of Directors who continued to provide the 
necessary expert guidance and oversight to ensure 
the most diligent oversight to ensure the success 
of the JDIC. The expertise of the Board in various 
required disciplines provided me with wise counsel, 
and I remain, on behalf of the JDIC team, grateful 
for this. Consultation and coordination with FSSN 
partners, Policyholders, the membership of the 
International Association of Deposit Insurers, other 
Deposit Insurance organisations and stakeholders 
were particularly critical during the year and so I 
extend thanks to all and hope that you benefited also 
from the expertise of the JDIC team. 

The JDIC team commits to continue the journey into 
the coming years, providing the best public policy 
responses for protecting depositors and the users 
of financial services in a dynamic and more inclusive 
financial system. 

 

Antoinette McKain 
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OPERATIONAL RESPONSE
TO THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC 

Identification of the first COVID-19 cases in Jamaica in March 2020 was a signal 
to the JDIC that its state of operational readiness had to be enhanced in the 
context of assessment of the economic impact of the disease in the countries 
in which it was first announced.  Following on the GOJ’s implementation of 
its Disaster Risk Management Act to aid in stemming the pandemic, the JDIC 
activated its Business Continuity Plan (BCP). Consequent on the activation its 
BCP, the JDIC notified all its stakeholders, including the MoFPS, the BOJ, the 
FSC, member institutions, and the JCCUL, inter alia, of its immediate operating 
response actions as Deposit Insurer and as a member of the Financial System 
Safety Net, and consistent with its public policy objective of protecting depositors 
and contributing to the maintenance of confidence and stability in the financial 
system.  Initiatives included the following:

1 Implemented remote working arrangements for employees and kept the team updated with GOJ 
information/protocols, as well as resources to assist with personal safety, while ensuring business 
continuity.

2  Upgraded the ICT infrastructure, including conducting a Disaster Recovery Simulation, to improve 
business processes, disaster recovery preparedness and data security; and enhance the remote working 
arrangements. 

3 Intensified monitoring and assessment of developments in the global and local economies in particular 
the pass through effects of national government actions to mitigate the effect of COVID–19 on the 
economy and financial system; and any impact on member institutions.

4  Enhanced monitoring and risk assessment of the financial performance of member institutions, with 
more frequent information sharing and collaboration with the BOJ supervisory division.
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5 Intensified collaboration with the FSSN partners, in particular the BOJ to ensure enhanced and timely 
information sharing to keep abreast of the developments in the financial system and the performance of 
DTIs and Non DTIs. This included information from the Financial Regulatory Committee (FRC) and macro 
prudential information from the Financial System Stability Committee (FSSC), to ensure timely detection 
of any potential risk to the Deposit Insurance Fund (DIF/the Fund).

6  Engaged member institutions through the JDIC’s CEO meetings with all institution Heads, hosting of a 
Policyholders Forum, and deposit insurance workshops with some 400 participants.  

7  Reviewed and tested activating and operationalizing the Corporation’s Financial Crisis Management Plan 
and supporting compendium of policies and procedures to ensure consistency with current legislations 
and standards of best practice and the Corporation’s overall state of readiness to respond to a crisis 
within the current environment and in collaboration with the other FSSN partners.

8 Commenced work with the BOJ, FSC, MoFPS through a FRC Technical Work Group to review and update 
the National Financial Crisis Preparedness and Management Plan and finalized plans to conduct a multi-
agency financial crisis simulation exercise in May 2021. 

9 Increased crisis preparation and management workshops, training courses and simulation exercises with 
focus on Deposit Insurers response to COVID-19 pandemic, specifically targeted to ensure staff skills were 
further sharpened to treat with any eventuality 

10 In addition to the annual evaluation of the DIF, conducted a mid-year evaluation to ensure the availability 
of adequate liquidity to treat with any potential resolution activity, in the preservation of deposits up to 
the deposit insurance coverage limit.

11  Adjusted investment strategy for FY2020/21 underpinned by the Corporation’s Investment Guidelines, 
by going short with placements to ensure sufficient liquidity to treat with any call on the DIF to resolve a 
member institution and protect insured depositors. 

12 Prepared draft MOU regarding the considerations for BOJ to provide immediate liquid funds to JDIC for 
payout and any other resolution activity in order to maintain confidence and stability of the financial 
system. 

13 Intensified public education including presence on social media platforms, with the CEO and other team 
members participating in remote presentations and interviews on national television and radio stations, 
as well as increased advertising in print and electronic media;  to educate and reassure depositors and 
other stakeholders on the benefits of deposit insurance protection, in particular with the doubling of the 
deposit insurance coverage limit to J$1.2M on August 31, 20211.

1  The increase in the deposit insurance coverage limit to $1.2 million was not a direct response to the COVID-19 pandemic, however was timely amidst the  
uncertainties and contributed to reassuring depositors and boosting confidence in the financial system.
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Insurance Premiums

Interest Earned 

Other Income

Total Income

Impairment Loss on Securities

Administrative Expenses

Surplus from Operations

Deposit Insurance Fund

Investment Securities

Total Assets

Property, Plant and Equipment (NBV)

Persons employed at the end of the year

Operating Ratio (%)

Expense Control Ratio (%)

Administrative Expenses Ratio (%)

Administrative Expenses to DIF Ratio (%)

Net Surplus (%)

Asset Management Ratio (%)

Return on Assets Ratio (%)

Insurance Premium/Total Income (%)

 1,696,898

1,548,725

470,870 

3,716,493

220

351,395

3,364,878

28,101,998

25,487,747

29,535,120 

283,367 
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    4,001,290 

           3,437 

       288,312 

    3,709,541 

24,737,119 
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1.2
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9.6
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1.3

90.4
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8.3

9.1
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15.1
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              -   
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89.9

17.1

15.3

42.8
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           93,621 

      1,825,771 

            -   

         209,280 

      1,616,491 

10,341,507 

      9,913,940 

    11,028,471 

           95,630 

26

20.6

11.5

12.9

2.0

88.5

18.3

16.2

44.3

745,540 

          862,530 
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       1,756,096 

              -   
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       1,575,314 

8,725,016 

       8,276,122 

       8,892,521 

            97,825 
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2.1

89.7

18.4

16.5

42.5
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       178,015 

    1,356,987 

9,246,938 

    9,075,955 

  10,177,943 

         98,946 

23

22.8

11.6

13.1

1.9

88.4

16.3

14.4

47.4

1,353,413

1,342,762 

(146,842)

2,549,333 

7,086 

294,325 

2,247,922 

21,027,578 

   21,650,876 

   22,063,976 

        194,645 

28

25.2

11.8

13.4

1.4

88.2

11.6

10.2

53.1

(146,842)
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Ms Halsall is an experienced economist with over 30 years 
experience with the Central Bank of Jamaica, retiring at the level 
of Senior Deputy Governor with responsibility for the Economic 
Division, the Banking, Market Operations and Currency Division, 
as well as the Administrative Division.

During her tenure at the Central Bank, Ms Halsall provided policy 
advice on economic developments both locally and internationally 
to the Governor of the Bank and the Minister of Finance. She also 
developed the Bank’s first published Quarterly Monetary Policy 
Report.

As a member of the Bank of Jamaica’s Economic Team, Ms 
Halsall was responsible for forecasting and analyzing economic 

variables and the design, and monitoring of the country’s financial 
programmes. Also, as a part of the team she participated in 
negotiating various economic programmes with the International 
Monetary Fund and other international organisations.

While working at the Bank, Ms Halsall also served as the deputy 
chair of the Board of the Bank (2011-2013), the chair of the Bank’s 
Committee of Administration and was a member of the Bank’s 
Management Council.

Ms Halsall also serves on the Financial Services Commission’s 
Board of Commissioners.

While at the Bank of Jamaica Ms McKain played a critical role 
in the establishment of the Deposit Insurance Scheme through 
her work on the legal framework of the Scheme and acted as its 
external legal advisor from its establishment in 1998 to 2001. Ms 
McKain’s expertise spans corporate affairs, commercial, banking 
and financial regulation law and best practices. She also has 
extensive knowledge of public policy issues relating to financial 
institution resolution and corporate governance practices.

From 2007 to 2009 Ms McKain was a member of the Executive 
Council of the International Association of Deposit Insurers 
(IADI) and chaired its Caribbean Regional Committee and its 

Legal Committee and is now a member of the Member Relations 
Council Committee of IADI. She was also on the Committee of the 
Private Sector Organisation of Jamaica which made proposals for 
the reform and modernisation of the insolvency laws in Jamaica.

In addition to her legal qualifications, Ms McKain holds an MBA 
(Finance) from the University of Manchester and Wales. She also 
has a Chartered Banker MBA from Bangor University and is a 
former member of the Institute of Chartered Bankers. Ms McKain 
is also a former member of the Jamaica Bar and the British Virgin 
Islands Bar Association and former Notary Public of the British 
Virgins Islands.

Myrtle Halsall, OD   -   Chairman

Myrtle Halsall was appointed Chairman of the Board of Directors of the 
Jamaica Deposit Insurance Corporation (JDIC) on February 10, 2020. 
Prior to her appointment as the Board Chairman, she served as a Board 
Director for the Corporation for three years.

Antoinette McKain   -  CEO

An Attorney-at-Law, Antoinette McKain was appointed Chief Executive Officer of the JDIC 
effective January 1, 2007. Prior to her appointment, Ms McKain served as Legal Counsel 
and Corporate Secretary of the Corporation for three years, following seven years as a 
member of the Bank of Jamaica’s legal team. Prior to her years at the Bank of Jamaica, Ms 
McKain had a career at the public and private bar in Jamaica and the British Virgin Islands.

22 J D I C  A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 2 0 / 2 1



Working at the Ministry of Finance and the Public Service over the last nineteen (19) years, Ms Wright is currently the Divisional Director of 
the Financial Regulations Division which has responsibility for ensuring that policies are in place to effectively regulate the financial sector.

He is a graduate of the University of the West Indies from which he holds a PhD in the Economic Policy Development Programme. In 2008, 
he was accredited as a Certified Financial Analyst (CFA) and was certified as Financial Risk Manager (FRM) in 2005. He graduated from the 
University of York with an MSc in Economics and Finance in 2001.

Dr Lewis began his career at the Bank of Jamaica in 2004 where he has served as an Economist/Senior Economist in the Financial Stability 
Department and Chief Economist for the Economic Information Publications Department.

Upon graduating from the University of the West Indies, Mr Hylton’s entire working life was spent with the Bank of Jamaica. While  at the 
Bank, he benefited from the institution’s comprehensive training opportunities, notably at the Bank of England, the International Monetary 
Fund and the Center for Latin American Monetary Studies (CEMLA). At retirement in August 2013, Mr Hylton was the Bank’s Financial 
Controller, a position he occupied since 2005. As Financial Controller he was responsible for the discharge of the Bank’s accounting and 
finance functions, in addition to that of the Information Systems Department.

Mr Hylton is currently the Chairman of the Bank of Jamaica Pensioners Association. He also served on the Board of Directors of the 
Students Loan Bureau between 2009 and 2012 and is a former President of the Bank of Jamaica Cooperative Society.

Aisha Wright   |   Nominee of the Financial Secretary

Aisha Wright is a graduate of the University of the West Indies 
with BSc (Hons) in Economics and Statistics. She also holds an MSc 
degree in Economics from the University College London (UCL).

Dr Jide Lewis, CFA, FRM   |   Nominee of the Governor of the 

Bank of Jamaica

Dr Jide Lewis is currently the Division Chief for the Financial 
Institutions Supervisory Division at the Bank of Jamaica.

Herbert Asquith Hylton   |   Director

Herbert Hylton is a Chartered Accountant with the Association of 
Certified Chartered Accountants of England and Wales, and also 
holds a BSc in Management Studies from the University of the 
West Indies.
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Ms Lewis left telecoms in September 2019 to focus on her passion 
of making a difference in education. Today she is the Operations 
Director of LHO Education Limited, a company that creates and 
distributes digital education products across the Caribbean. Their 
main product, www.learninghub.online, is a regional e-Learning 
and exam preparation platform that has over 100,000 registered 
users and contracts with several Caribbean Governments. 

Prior to this, Ms Lewis’ focus was on managing Digicel’s 
Government Relations Portfolio for the Caribbean starting with 

Bermuda and stretching through to Suriname. During her 20-year 
tenure at Digicel, she also served as the Chairman of the Digicel 
Jamaica Foundation at which time they worked closely with the 
Ministry of Education to successfully achieve the UNDG of 80 
percent literacy for Jamaica at the grade 4 level. Ms Lewis has 
also sat on several Government Boards, including E-Learning 
Jamaica. 

Ms Lewis holds a B.A. in Computer Science and Business 
Administration from the University of the West Indies.

Subsequent to his retirement from banking, Mr McLeod served 
as Consultant to various entities. These included: the Portmore 
Community Development Fund, a government entity engaged in 
retail lending to the Small and Micro Sectors; and the Broadway 
Group of Companies where he successfully established the group 
in the retail market.

With his extensive experience in finance, Mr McLeod was invited 
to serve on several Government Boards, including Spectrum 
Management Authority, Urban Development Corporation and 

Pembroke Hall High School where he is currently the Chairman. 
In 2012, he served as Deputy Mayor of Kingston and is currently a 
Local Government Councillor.

Mr McLeod is the Managing Director of Motor World Limited, a 
family business engaged in the retailing of auto parts. He is an 
Associate of the Chartered Institute of Bankers (ACIB), London 
and a graduate of the College of Arts, Science and Technology 
(CAST), now the University of Technology.

Lisa Lewis   |   Director 

Lisa Lewis has over 30 years’ experience working in the private sector, 
with the majority of her career focused on the telecoms industry, building 
companies such as Digicel Group Limited and Cable & Wireless. 

Vernon McLeod   |   Director

Vernon McLeod is a retired banker with approximately twenty (20) years’ experience 
in commercial banking, having served in various positions at National Commercial Bank 
Jamaica Limited. He was Manager of a number of the bank’s branches, as well as Credit 
Manager at the Head Office for several years. He had the responsibility for supervising and 
managing the bank’s loan portfolio, ensuring that critical targets, including profitability, 
were achieved and that recovery of the bank’s exposure was assured.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Jamaica Deposit Insurance Corporation (JDIC) is a statutory Corporation which is ultimately 
accountable to the Parliament, through the Minister responsible for Finance. The Corporation 
operates within the legal framework set out in its governing statute, the Deposit Insurance Act 
(DIA) which allows for the establishment of a Deposit Insurance Scheme (DIS). As a public body, 
the Corporation is also governed by the Public Bodies Management and Accountability Act (PBMA) 
and the Financial Administration and Audit Act (FAAA).

The Corporation’s primary objective is the provision of insurance against the loss of depositors’ 
funds up to the prescribed coverage limit in the event a member institution (Policyholder) fails, in 
which event the Corporation undertakes resolution, depositor reimbursements and financial crisis 
management activities in conjunction with the other FSSN partners. This is part of the Corporation’s 
broader public policy objective for maintaining depositor confidence and financial system stability 
in Jamaica. To support its mandate, the Corporation manages a Deposit Insurance Fund (DIF/the 
Fund) established under the DIA and has the power to act as a liquidator of its Policyholders, their 
holding companies and subsidiaries and acting in that capacity may arrange for the restructuring of 
a Policyholder whether by merger with or acquisition by another financial institution or otherwise.

Given its role, the JDIC is committed to maintaining the highest standards of accountability and 
corporate governance through the oversight of its Board of Directors and Management.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS COMPOSITION AND MANDATE

The DIA provides that the policy and general administration of the JDIC and the management of 
the Fund is the responsibility of the Board. The Board determines the strategic direction of the 
Corporation consistent with its statutory objectives and ensures sound governance is maintained 
and effective risk management systems are in place. The Board is guided by its Board Governance 
Policy developed consistent with the Corporate Governance Framework for Public Bodies in Jamaica.
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The Board is comprised of seven (7) members, including three ex officio directors: The Governor of the Bank 
of Jamaica, the Financial Secretary, and the Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation (or their respective 
nominees); and four other directors appointed by the Minister of Finance and the Public Service, including 
the Chairman of the Board.

In keeping with the DIA, the Board met seven (7) times during the calendar year, thereby fulfilling the 
statutory requirement for not less than six (6) meetings.

Consistent with the PBMA, the Board ensured that 
the following reports were submitted within the 
prescribed period:

•  The Corporate Plan, Operating and Capital 
Budgets for FY2021/22 – 2024/25;

•  The Annual Report, and the audited financial 
statements for FY2019/20; and

•  The Quarterly and Half-yearly reports.

During the review period the Corporation’s Board 
engaged in corporate governance sensitization and 
training sessions. These sessions included training 
in the following areas: the Board Performance 
Evaluation Instrument; the Special Resolution 
Regime (SRR) being developed by the FRC; and 
annual reporting requirements by public bodies. 
Members of the Board also attended corporate 
governance training conducted by the Caribbean 
Governance Training Institute (CGTI).

There are three (3) standing committees of the 
Board: The Audit Committee, Investment Committee 
and Corporate Governance Committee. These 
Committees are governed by their respective terms 
of reference which outline their responsibilities.

BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

The PBMA requires that every public body with 
more than four (4) Directors must establish an Audit 
Committee of not less than three (3) Directors. The 
Audit Committee is responsible, inter alia, for advising 
the Board on the extent to which the objectives of 
the Corporation are being achieved; the adequacy 
and efficiency of the accounting internal control 
structure and systems; reviewing and advising the 
Board on the financial statements that are to be 
included in the annual report; reviewing the annual 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Myrtle Halsall, OD      Chairman     7/7

Jide Lewis      Nominee of the Governor, Bank of Jamaica      6/7

Aisha Wright      Nominee of the Financial Secretary      7/7

Antoinette McKain      Chief Executive Officer      7/7

Herbert Hylton      Board Member      7/7

Lisa Lewis      Board Member     6/7

Vernon McLeod      Board Member     6/7

NUMBER OF
MEETINGS
ATTENDED

(CY)
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auditor’s report and overseeing the internal audit function of the Corporation. The Audit Committee’s Terms 
of Reference and Policy is guided by the GOJ Audit Committee Policy, Corporate Governance Framework, 
the PBMA and the FAAA. The Audit Committee is comprised of three (3) Directors and a co-opted member 
from the MoFPS. The Committee met five (5) times for the financial year and effectively carried out its 
mandate by reviewing and making recommendations on all Quarterly and Half-Yearly Reports, FY2019/20 
Annual Report and Audited Financial Statements and the FY2020/21-FY2023/24 Corporate Plan, Operating 
and Capital Budgets in compliance with the PBMA requirements. The Committee also reviewed and made 
recommendations in relation to the Internal Auditor’s Work Plans and Reports for the period.

Investment Committee

The Investment Committee advises the Investment 
Policy to the Board and oversees the management 
of the Corporation’s Investment portfolio.

The Committee is comprised of a minimum of two 
(2) Board members, one of which is the CEO and 
key executive management officers. The Terms of 
Reference for the Investment Committee requires 
that meetings are held quarterly or as determined 
by the Committee.

The Investment Committee receives and reviews 
reports from the Treasury Management Committee, 
a standing executive management committee 

which assesses market information and authorizes 
the day-to-day investment placements.

In keeping with the Terms of Reference, the 
Committee met four (4) times for the financial year 
and submitted the required reports to the Board. The 
Committee gave due consideration to the vagaries of 
the economic and investment climate, consequent 
on the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, globally 
and domestically on the performance of the JDIC 
investment portfolio and the implication for the 
DIF Reserve Target Ratio. The Investment Policy 
and legislative requirements were reviewed in this 
context.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Herbert Hylton       Chairman     5/5

Lisa Lewis      Board Member 4/5

Vernon McLeod      Board Member     5/5

Michael Martell     Co-opted Member, MoFPS      5/5

NUMBER OF
MEETINGS
ATTENDED

(FY)
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INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

Vernon McLeod       Chairman     4/4

Jide Lewis     Board Member 3/4

Antoinette McKain     Board Member     4/4

Ronald Edwards     Director, Finance, Funds and Asset Management     4/4

Dawn Marie Brown    Director, Monitoring and Risk Assessment      4/4

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

The Corporate Governance Committee is charged with the responsibility to direct the implementation 
of and compliance with sound corporate governance principles within the Corporation. The principal 
objectives of the Committee are to assist with Board oversight of effective corporate governance principles 
and practises; evaluating and assessing the functioning of the Board, Board Committees and Management, 
as well as the critical human resource and succession planning requirements.

In the continued thrust towards maintaining good corporate governance practices, a training session on 
Board Performance Evaluation was conducted for Board members by an external corporate governance 
specialist.

The Committee comprises of four (4) Board members, inclusive of the Chairman of the Board of Directors 
and the Chief Executive Officer. During the financial year, the Committee met once.

In keeping with its obligations the Committee monitored the Corporation’s compliance with the PBMA and 
conducted the annual evaluation of the Chief Executive Officer’s performance, guided by the Corporate 
Governance Framework, the GOJ Accountability Framework and the JDIC’s Human Resource Policy.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

Lisa Lewis       Chairman     1/1

Vernon McLeod    Board Member 1/1

Myrtle Halsall, OD  Board Member 1/1 

Antoinette McKain     Board Member     1/1

NUMBER OF
MEETINGS
ATTENDED

(FY)

NUMBER OF
MEETINGS
ATTENDED

(FY)
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ENTERPRISE RISK MANAGEMENT

The Corporation maintains a comprehensive Enterprise Risk Management (ERM)2 Framework that in-
volves a structured and holistic approach for identifying and appropriately managing risks3. The Board 
and Management ensure that the ERM Framework is entrenched in the culture, governance structure 
and processes of the Corporation and that strategic objectives and risk appetite are aligned. Key ERM 
functions to ensure risks are identified, assessed, managed and reported include: identifying potential 
events that may affect the Corporation at all levels; and conducting quarterly risk review and validation 
sessions, annual environmental scan and analysis of the strengths, weaknesses, opportunities and threats 
facing the Corporation. These activities also underpin the Corporation’s strategic planning and guides the 
development of annual corporate plans, operating and capital budgets.

IDENTIFY

ASSESSREPORT

MANAGE

JDIC
ERM

FRAMEWORK
RISK

PROCESS

2  The Corporation’s ERM Framework was formally established in 2019 to inter alia allow for better strategic decision making and promote a culture of risk 
management at all levels. The development and operationalization of the Framework continues to evolve and improve.

3  The JDIC’s ERM Framework is guided by the key principles of the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations (COSO) Enterprise Risk Management - Integrated 
Framework and the International Organisation of Standardization (ISO 31000) risk management standard.

JDIC ERM FRAMEWORK RISK PROCESS
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The Corporation’s Risk Management Committee comprises risk owners supported by designated risk 
champions for each functional area and a Risk Manager. The Risk Management Committee (RMC) has re-
sponsibility for executing all the day to day risk management processes as guided by the ERM Framework 
and annual work plans. The Risk Management Committee reports quarterly to the Audit Committee its 
assessment of the Corporation’s risks, risk ratings and action plans to address risks that may affect the 
achievement of the Corporation’s objectives. The independent internal and external audit functions also 
provide a layer of defense by ensuring necessary controls and risk mitigating strategies are in place and 
are being applied.

KEY RISK AND RESPONSES DURING THE REVIEW PERIOD

In assessing the risks during the review period, the JDIC placed heightened focus on the potential vulner-
abilities that may impact the continuity of its business operations and the risks to the DIS (call on the DIF) 
consequent to the performance and state of viability of member institutions. This was within the context 
of the potential risks posed by the external environment particularly the evolving developments and un-
certainties of the COVID-19 pandemic on the domestic and global economies. In response, during the year 
priority was placed on: strengthening key stakeholder engagement; conducting more robust monitoring 
of Policyholders’ performance; enhancing crisis preparedness and resolution management and depositor 
reimbursement readiness; and updating and expanding the scope of business continuity plans.

The developments during the past year have highlighted the importance of quickly identifying, assessing 
and proactively responding to potential events by reprioritizing and making adjustments to ensure the 
Corporation operates in a state of constant readiness at all times. The Corporation will continue to place 
importance on the implementation of initiatives to strengthen its ERM Framework and Policy by ensur-
ing effective internal controls are in place, ongoing development of the risk culture and staff awareness 
through training, and improving the risk management tools and mechanisms to quickly identify, assess and 
manage key risks.
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Access to Information 
Act (2002) - Monthly 
and Quarterly Reports

The report shows requests from 
the public for information on 
aspects of the operations of the 
Corporation.

The Access to 
Information Unit, 
Office of the Prime 
Minister

The Access to 
Information 
Act, 2002

Monthly, 
Quarterly

Corporate Plan, 
Operating & Capital 
Budgets FY2021/22- 
2024/25 

Corruption Prevention 
- Statutory Declaration

Statement of intent which 
outlines the strategic direction 
of the Corporation for four years. 
Includes vision, mission, SWOT 
analysis, planning assumptions, 
business strategies, financial plans, 
manpower requirements and 
measures to evaluate performance.

Statutory declaration to be 
made by public servants of 
assets and liabilities and income.

MoFPS

Integrity  
Commissioner

PBMA

Integrity 
Commission
Act, 2017

Annually 

Annually 

Monthly Financial 
Statements 
-(Statements A and B)

The Monthly Financial 
Statements show the monthly 
and accumulated financial 
position of the Corporation.

MoFPS - Monthly

Net Credit Report 
(Statement) 

This report shows the month-
end balances on investment 
categories and bank balances.

MoFPS - Monthly

Public Sector Report 
System (PRS-1) 

Report of all goods/services 
procured in any given month

MoFPS Contractor
General
Act 1983

Monthly

Quarterly Contract 
Awards (QCA) Report

This report shows the award of 
contracts $500,000 and over 
during each Quarter.

Integrity 
Commission

Contractor 
General Act, 
1983

Quarterly

Public Bodies 
Management and 
Accountability Report 
(PBMA) 

The report gives the quarterly 
and half yearly out-turns of 
actual performance against 
targets and shows the financial 
statements and the projected 
budgets for the remaining 
quarters and half year.

MoFPS PBMA Quarterly 
and Half-
yearly

Annual Report and 
Audited Financial 
Statements 
FY2019/20 

The Annual Report details the 
operations of the Corporation 
for the year (April – March) and 
includes the Audited Financial 
Statements which show the 
accumulated financial position 
of the Corporation over the 
same 12-month period, duly 
certified by the Corporation’s 
external auditors.

Ministry of Finance 
and the Public 
Service (MoFPS)

Deposit 
Insurance Act, 
1998

PBMA, 2001

Annually

NAME OF
REPORT

NATURE OF
REPORT

STATUTORY
AGENCY

GOVERNING
LEGISLATION

REPORTING
PERIOD

COMPLIANCE 
ACHIEVED

STATUTORY COMPLIANCE REPORT
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THE TEAM: Standing L-R, Ronald Edwards, Director Finance Funds and Asset Management; Dorraine Wright, Manager 
Human Resource; Dawn Marie Brown, Director Monitoring and Risk Assessment; Stacie-Ann Carty, General Counsel/
Corporate Secretary (resigned December 2020; position vacant at March 31, 2021) and Antoinette McKain, Chief 
Executive Officer. Seated L-R; Eloise Williams Dunkley, Director Intervention, Resolutions and International Relations; 
Marjorie McGrath, Manager Corporate Communication.

Under the DIA, the CEO is responsible for the 
day-to-day management of the Corporation. 
Entrusted to this portfolio also, is advising 
the Board of Directors for approval of such 
appropriate policies and strategies that will 
further the objects of the Corporation. The CEO 
is responsible to ensure that the Corporation 
remains in compliance with all its statutory 
obligations including relevant directives issued 
by the Ministry of Finance and the Public Service 
from time to time.

The JDIC CEO is prescribed as a member of two (2) 
statutory inter-agency committees established 
under the Bank of Jamaica Act, namely: The 
Financial System Stability Committee and the 
Financial Regulatory Committee, respectively 
having mandates for information sharing and 
coordination among financial system safety net 
members, implementation of mechanisms and 
procedures for financial sector crisis planning, 
management and resolution; and for financial 
system stability assessment. The CEO is also a 
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member of the Bank of Jamaica Bankers’ Committee and the Financial Inclusion Steering Committee.

In the day-to-day management of the Corporation, the CEO is supported by members of the 
executive management team, comprised of the officers heading the core functional Departments of 
the Corporation namely: Monitoring and Risk Assessment, Intervention, Resolutions and International 
Relations, General Counsel, Corporate Secretariat and Communications and Finance, Funds and 
Asset Management. Executive management officers represent the Corporation on FSSN statutory 
inter-agency and other relevant committees and technical working groups and also on the various 
committees and technical working groups of the IADI and other regional bodies concerned with the 
promotion of deposit insurance and financial stability.

The CEO and Executive Management team together form the Committee of Management (COM) 
which is chaired by the CEO. To engage a multidisciplinary collaborative process for robust decision 
making and sound judgement, the COM meets periodically, but not less than once per month, to 
evaluate operating policies and corporate strategies in a timely manner in the context of a dynamic 
operating environment. The COM monitors the implementation of key initiatives designed to effect 
the strategies and further the objects of the Corporation. The COM also sits as the Risk Management 
Committee which is part of the governance structure for the enterprise risk management activities 
of the Corporation.

Other standing and sub-committees of the COM include: Treasury Management; Information and 
Communication Technology; Disaster Preparedness, Recovery and Business Continuity; Procurement; 
Disposal of Assets; Records and Information Management; Expenditure Control; Legislative Review; 
and such ad hoc committees as may be required from time to time.
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MACROECONOMIC PERFORMANCE
GLOBAL DEVELOPMENTS

During the financial year the COVID-19 pandemic had widespread adverse impact on the global health 
and economic landscape. As infections spread, countries implemented tighter restrictions, thereby 
bringing economic activity to a near standstill. There was an unprecedented decline in economic 
activity, with the world output contracting 3.3 percent in 2020 following low growth in 2019. In 
April of 2020, growth plummeted as most countries were forced into lockdowns essentially halting 
production, which was followed by months of uncertainty. Strong recovery of 6.0 percent is projected 
for 2021 but a high level of uncertainty prevails. Further, the pace and level of recovery is diverging 
across countries based on, inter alia, the level and duration of disruptions, the extent of policy support, 
access and buy-in to vaccinations and the effectiveness of economic policies. Table 1 highlights the 
economic performance and projections of Jamaica’s major trading partners.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Table 1: Economic Performance and Projections (% Change) of Jamaica’s Main Trading Partners 

World Canada China United Kingdom United States

2019 2.8 1.9 5.8 1.4 2.2

2020 -3.3 -5.4 2.3 -9.9 -3.5

2021P 6 5 8.4 5.3 6.4

2022P 4.4 4.7 5.6 5.1 3.5
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DOMESTIC ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENTS

The COVID-19 pandemic has posed significant 
challenges for the Jamaican economy. Given 
the measures implemented to stem the spread 
of the virus, many businesses and employees 
were impacted. In response, the Government 
of Jamaica budgeted for a COVID-19 Allocation 
of Resources for Employees (CARE) Programme 
designed to provide an economic response to the 
pandemic and lessen the impact of the measures 
implemented. 

In light of the ongoing pandemic during the year, 
the economy recorded quarterly contraction 
for the first 3 quarters in the fiscal year 2020/21 

with the highest decline being 18.4 percent in the 
September quarter. The PIOJ has estimated a 5.7 
percent contraction for the January to March 2021 
quarter. The economic contraction was consistent 
with global performance as the pandemic reduced 
demand, increased unemployment and brought 
about significant uncertainty, thereby stimulating 
weakened business and consumer confidence. 

The BOJ maintained its accommodative monetary 
policy stance during FY2020/21. Specifically, the 
Bank held its policy interest rate at 0.50 percent 
throughout the year with a view of maintaining 
inflation within the target range of 4.0 to 6.0 

REGIONAL ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENTS

The ongoing global health and economic crisis has been particularly challenging for the Caribbean 
region. Tourism was one of the sectors most affected by the COVID-19 pandemic as countries were 
forced to implement travel restrictions to contain the spread of the virus, tourist-dependent Caribbean 
countries saw tourism and tourist-related activities effectively brought to a halt. According to the IMF, 
the Caribbean contracted by 4.3 percent in 2020. The region is projected to see a 3.3 percent increase 
in real GDP during 2021.4 The main economic outturns for Jamaica’s major Caribbean partners are 
shown in Table 2 below.

Sources: Statistical Institute of Jamaica, Bank of Jamaica, Central Bank of Barbados, 
Central Bank of Trinidad and Tobago and The Central Bank of Bahamas
n.a. – not available
*end 2020
**September 2020

4 IMF World Economic Outlook – April 2021

 Indicators Jamaica Barbados Trinidad Bahamas

 GDP Growth (%)  -5.7  -19.8  -8.7**  -14.8*

 Inflation 5.2 2.0 0.8** 1.8

 Unemployment Rate (%) 8.9 13.6 n.a. n.a.

 Exchange Rate (J$=US$1)
 As at March 31, 2021 146.58 2.03 6.76 1.00

Table 2: Performance of Key Macroeconomic Indicators as at March 31, 2021
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percent and encouraging economic recovery 
amidst the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic. The 
BOJ also implemented a number of initiatives 
aimed at preserving financial system stability 
and ensuring the continued smooth functioning 
of the foreign exchange market.

Table 3 summarizes the key macroeconomic 
outturns at the end of FY2020/21. During the 
period, inflation largely remained within the 
BOJ’s target range (4.0 to 6.0 percent). Net 
International Reserves (NIR) continued to 
increase, ending the fiscal year at US$3.3 billion, 
reflecting a 2.5 percent increase relative to the 
level at the end of March 2020.5 Jamaica’s labour 
market conditions were adversely impacted by 
COVID-19. The unemployment rate increased to 
a high of 12.6 percent in July 2020 but recovered 
to 8.9 percent in January 2021. Interest rates 
continued to trend downward with a weighted 
average of 1.52 percent on the 180-day treasury 
bills at the end of March 2021 compared to 1.80 
percent at the end of March 2020. For the fiscal 
year 2020/21, the Jamaica dollar recorded both 
periods of appreciation and depreciation and 
closed at J$146.58:US$1, reflecting an 8.3 percent 
depreciation relative to FY2019/20. 

The CARE programme was a temporary 
cash transfer programme to individuals 
and businesses to lessen the impact of 
the pandemic on their welfare. During the 
year the programme continued to support 
the country’s economic recovery and 
continued to assist those most impacted 
by the measures put in place to stem 
the spread of COVID-19 virus. The CARE 
Programme included:

• Business Employee Support and 
Transfer of Cash which provided cash 
transfers to businesses in the tourism 
industry;

• Supporting Employees with Transfer 
of Cash which provided cash to 
individuals who lost employment 
since the first COVID-19 case in 
Jamaica;

• Grants to assist the marginally self-
employed and informally employed;

• Other grants included COVID-19 PATH 
grants, small business grants, tourism 
grants and compassionate grants.

5 At this level, net international reserves represented 38.71 weeks of goods and services imports relative to the benchmark of 12 weeks.

*PIOJ preliminary estimate
Sources: Statistical Institute of Jamaica and Bank of Jamaica

 Indicators 2018 2019 2020 2021

 GDP Growth (%)  1.4 1.7  -2.4 -5.7*

 Inflation (Y-o-Y) 3.9 3.4 4.8 5.2

 NIR (US$ Million) 3,074.57 3,084.83 3,237.67 3,319.33

 Unemployment Rate (%) 9.6 8.0 7.3 8.9

 180 Day T-bill Rate (%) 3.17 2.17 1.80 1.52

 FY Exchange Rate (J$=US$1)  125.98      126.47     135.39    146.58

Table 3: Key Macroeconomic Outturns at end March 31, 2021
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Despite the adverse and substantial shock of COVID-19 on Jamaica, the economy has remained largely 
resilient. In December, Standard & Poor’s affirmed Jamaica’s long-term local and foreign currency 
issuer default rating at B+ with a negative outlook. In March, Fitch Ratings affirmed Jamaica’s long-
term foreign currency issuer default rating at B+ with a stable outlook. 

OUTLOOK FOR FY2021/22

The outlook for the global economy for FY2021/2022 is characterized by uncertainty. According to 
the IMF, “future developments will depend on: (1) the path of the pandemic, (2) policy actions, (3) the 
evolution of financial conditions and commodity prices, and (4) the capacity of the economy to adjust 
to health-related impediments to activity. The ebb and flow of these drivers and their interaction with 
country-specific characteristics will determine the pace of the recovery and the extent of medium-
term scarring”. 

The extent of the local economic fallout remains difficult to estimate and recovery is dependent in 
part on recoveries by our major trading partners, the management, containment and duration of the 
health and economic impact of the COVID-19 pandemic.  Jamaica’s recovery is also contingent on the 
availability and buy-in to vaccinate against the disease by the population. The PIOJ projects an increase 
in real GDP within the range 7 to 9 percent for the first quarter of FY2021/22. Projections relating to 
the macroeconomic indicators in keeping with the GOJ Fiscal Policy Paper FY2021/22 are presented in 
Table 4 below.

Real GDP Growth (%) 1.9 -0.1 -11.6 5.2 6.2

Inflation (Annual Pt to Pt, %) 3.4 4.8 6.3 5.1 5.0

NIR (US $Million) 3,084.8 3,237.7 2,942.4 2,582.6 2,921.2

Fiscal Balance (% of GDP) 1.2 0.9 -4.0 0.3 0.3

Primary Surplus (% of GDP) 7.5 7.1 3.0 6.1 5.6

Total Public Debt (% of GDP) 94.4      94.8     110.1    100.7 89.3

Indicators FY2018/19 FY2019/20 FY2020/21 FY2021/22  FY2022/23

  (A) (A) (E) (P) (P)

Table 4: Medium Term Macro Economic Indicators - Actual and Projections

A – Actuals                       E - Estimate                        P – Projections                       
Source: Ministry of Finance – Government of Jamaica Fiscal Policy Paper FY2021/22
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DEVELOPMENTS IN THE LEGISLATIVE AND REGULATORY ENVIRONMENT

During the period under review there were very 
few legislative developments to the financial 
system, being, the passing of the Bank of Jamaica 
(Amendment) Act, 2020 and the Micro Credit 
Act, 2021.  While these two pieces of legislation 
were passed, there remains four (4) pending 
pieces of legislation, namely: The Cooperative 
Societies Amendment Bill; The Credit Unions 
(Special Provisions) Bill; The Financial Institutions 
Resolution Bill; and the Anti-Money Laundering 
Counter Financing of Terrorism (AML/CFT) and 
Proliferation of Weapons of Mass Destruction 
Rules. Additionally, of note is the passing of 
the Data Protection Act, 2020, which will have 
significant implications for the processing of 
data by financial institutions and their respective 
supervisors. 

The Bank of Jamaica (Amendment) Act, 2020

The Bank of Jamaica (Amendment) Act, was 
enacted on December 22, 2020, and will come into 
effect on April 16, 2021 pursuant to the Appointed 
Day Notice published in the Jamaica Gazette by 
the Minister of Finance and the Public Service. 
The Bank of Jamaica Act, has been amended 
to strengthen the governance arrangement of 
the Bank of Jamaica (the Bank) and facilitate 
independence in carrying out its mandate, in 
accordance with international best practices. The 
revised mandate of the Bank, provides that the 
main objectives of the Bank are, maintenance of 
price stability and financial system stability.

The Act also includes provisions to upgrade the 
Bank’s governance arrangements and enhance 
its accountability and transparency, through 
provisions which will provide for the: 

 Establishment of two new statutory commit-
tees, being the Monetary Policy Committee; 
and the Financial Policy Committee; 

 Independence of the Bank in making, mon-
etary policy, purchases and sales of foreign 

exchange, decisions to increase or reduce 
external reserves, the management of exter-
nal reserves or supervisory matters pursuant 
to the Banking Services Act decisions;

 Amendment of the statutory minimum capi-
tal requirement to a percentage of monetary 
liabilities; 

 Restricting of the Bank’s ability to make tem-
porary advances to the Government; 

 Prohibition of the Bank from purchasing 
or acquiring on a primary issue, securities 
issued or guaranteed by the Government;

 Removal of the Minister of Finance’s  
approval in regards to staff emoluments; 

 Exemption of the Bank from the require-
ments of the Public Bodies Management 
and Accountability Act (PBMA); while at 
the same time ensuring transparency and 
accountability through the promulgation 
of suitable governance rules. These rules 
provide for the exercise of corporate gover-
nance, international best practice standards, 
the preparation and submission of an Annual 
Report to the Minister of Finance and the 
Public Service, and audits of the accounts 
of the Bank by the Auditor General on the 
direction of the House of Representatives.

The Monetary Policy Committee is to consist of 
three (3) ex-officio members (inclusive of the 
Governor of the Bank, who sits as the Chair of 
the Committee), and two (2) members to be 
appointed by the Governor General, to allow for 
a more collegial approach towards formulating 
the monetary policies of the Bank. The Monetary 
Policy Committee in performing its function is to 
seek to achieve and maintain the price stability as 
defined by the inflation target set by the Minister 
of Finance and the Public Service.  

The Financial Policy Committee is to consist of four 
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(4) ex-officio members, inclusive of the Governor 
of the Bank, and two members appointed by the 
Governor General, with the responsibility of 
formulating financial policies which govern and 
promote the proper functioning of the financial 
system. In formulating financial policies, the 
Financial Policy Committee will determine policy 
matters relating to: 

 Prudential supervision and macro prudential 
policy (financial system stability); 

 Statutory mandates or functions delegated 
by the Minister in relation to remittances and 
cambios; 

 Payments and settlements systems; and 

 Credit reporting. 

The Micro Credit Act

The Act governs the operations of privately-
owned money-lending businesses in Jamaica, 
by placing them under the regulatory ambit of 
the Bank of Jamaica. The Act establishes a legal 
framework, under which: 

 Money-lending business operations will be 
licensed; 

 Fit and proper requirements will be 
established for licensing purposes; 

 Operating requirements for licensees will be 
established; 

 Customer complaints will be addressed; 

 Regulatory powers to conduct inspections, 
examine the records of licensees, impose 
regulatory sanctions for non-compliance and 
issue standards and guidance;

 A Code of Conduct will be provided for the 
money-lending services; 

 Penalties with custodial sentences will be 
applicable on conviction for committing an 
offence.

PENDING LEGISLATION  

The Cooperative Societies Amendment Bill 

The Bill will amend the Cooperative Societies Act, 
by effectively bringing credit union cooperative 
societies under the regulatory ambit of the 
Minister of Finance and the Public Service and 
Bank of Jamaica. As such, the Bill will restrict the 
deposit-taking activities of co-operative societies 
to those co-operative societies which operate as 
credit unions. It is anticipated that this Bill will be 
presented to Parliament jointly with the proposed 
Credit Unions (Special Provisions) Act. 

The Credit Unions (Special Provisions) Bill 

Upon the promulgation of the Bill, all Credit Unions 
will be under the prudential supervisory regime 
of the Bank of Jamaica. The Bill provides for, 
licensing, capital, reserves, prohibited business, 
remedial and intervention processes and the role 
of specially authorized Credit Unions.  Once the 
Bill has been passed Credit Unions shall apply to 
the Corporation for deposit insurance coverage. 
It is anticipated that the Bill will be passed by the 
end of the 2021 calendar year.

The Financial Institutions Resolution Bill 

The purpose of the Bill is to establish:

1. A resolution regime under which non-viable 
financial institutions will be resolved using 
administrative mechanisms; and 

2. Provisions for the winding up of financial 
institutions, and their exit from the financial 
system.

The Bill seeks to provide a resolution regime 
for those financial institutions, whose distress 
or disorderly failure could cause significant 
disruption in the wider financial system and 
economy of Jamaica. In addition to administrative 
mechanisms, the legislation will incorporate 
modified insolvency provisions to be applied to: (i) 
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the residual entity after a financial institution has 
been subjected to administrative resolution; and 
(ii) financial institutions which are insolvent, but 
whose demise will not cause significant disruption 
in the wider financial system.

PENDING FINANCIAL RULES  

Anti-Money Laundering, Counter Financing 
of Terrorism (AML/CFT) and Proliferation of 
Weapons of Mass Destruction Rules 

The rules will provide for measures by which the 
BOJ may prevent or mitigate money laundering 
or terrorist financing. As such, the rules will, 
outline the risk based examinations and oversight 
processes relative to BOJ’s AML/CFT oversight 
functions. The rules will require licenses to comply 
with the following areas of the BOJ’s AML/CFT 

Guidance Notes: 

▪  Risk Based Framework; 

▪  Know your customer, know the 
transaction counterparty and customer 
due diligence; 

▪ Special Guidance - UNSEC Resolutions 
on the Proliferation of Weapons of mass 
Destruction;

▪ Special Guidance-Branches and 
Subsidiaries;

▪  Nominated Officer Regime;

▪  Board responsibility and employee 
integrity awareness; and 

▪  Compliance monitoring, which include, 
transaction monitoring and reporting and 
record keeping.
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PROFILE OF POLICYHOLDERS
As at March 31, 2021, the number of member institutions in the DIS remained 

unchanged at eleven (11), comprising of eight (8) commercial banks, two (2) 

building societies and one (1) merchant bank. 

COMMERCIAL BANKS

   Bank of Nova Scotia Jamaica Limited

   Citibank, N.A.

   FirstCaribbean International Bank (Jamaica) Limited

   First Global Bank Jamaica Limited

   JMMB Bank (Jamaica) Limited

   JN Bank Limited

   National Commercial Bank Jamaica Limited

   Sagicor Bank Jamaica Limited

BUILDING SOCIETIES

   Scotia Jamaica Building Society

   Victoria Mutual Building Society

MERCHANT BANK

   Cornerstone Trust & Merchant Bank Limited

POLICYHOLDERS’ PROFILE AND PERFORMANCE 
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POLICYHOLDERS’ PERFORMANCE
Policyholders remained adequately capitalized, solvent, and resilient buttressed by liquidity support 
from the BOJ, despite the deterioration in asset quality and profitability. This was amidst unprecedented 
shocks to the domestic economy caused by the COVID-19 pandemic and associated public health 
concerns that resulted in lockdowns and travel restrictions. Table 5 below presents a summary of the 
key financial indicators for the banking system at March 31.

POLICYHOLDERS’ MARKET SHARE

Market share across all three sectors, in terms of total assets, remained relatively unchanged at 
the end of FY2020/21.  The commercial banking sector continued to dominate the banking system, 
accounting for 91.5 percent of total assets. Building Societies and Trust & Merchant Bank Licensees 
accounted for 8.2 percent and 0.3 percent, respectively (See Figure 1).

Key Financial Indicators  2017    2018    2019    2020    2021   20/21     (∆%)

Total Assets 1,405.91 1,549.14 1,691.02 1,859.98 2,083.65 12.0

Cash and Bank 250.80 322.56 311.10 346.18 365.75 5.7

Investments 376.68 385.71 412.98 392.89 492.57 25.4

Regulatory Capital Base 147.48 161.02 160.20 198.45 226.08 13.9

Total Deposits 880.11 1,023.9 1,094.89 1,236.22 1,409.42 14.0

Loans & Advances (gross) 657.99 710.40 825.00 959.03 1,055.42 10.1

Non-performing Loans 18.19 19.42 19.61 23.24 30.55 31.4

Provision for Loan Loss 21.55 22.64 24.16 24.01 32.16 33.5

Interest Income 89.35 71.90 99.28 108.85 109.17 0.3

Non-interest Income 57.42 62.07 85.42 86.85 83.63 (3.7)

Pre-Tax Profit6  39.34 40.11 48.66 47.32 27.73 (41.4)

Key Ratio (%)

Capital Adequacy Ratio 14.8 15.2 14.7 14.2 14.3 0.1

Table 5:  Summary of Financial Performance of the Banking System
as at March 31 ($ Billions)

6 Despite the decline in profitability during the review period due to the pandemic, the system generally remained profitable.
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TOTAL ASSETS GROWTH, COMPOSITION AND QUALITY

Despite the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on business and economic activities, there was 
expansion in terms of total assets growth within the banking sector. The total asset base of 
Policyholders grew by 12.0 percent or $223.6 billion to total $2,083.7 billion at the end of the fiscal year, 
relative to 10.0 percent or $169.0 billion for the corresponding period in 2020. This growth was largely 
driven by increases in investments, and loans and advances. Notwithstanding this, only the investment 
component of total assets increased its share for the review period (See Figure 2).
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Figure 1: Member Institutions’ Market Share (%) per Sector

Figure 2: Share of Banking System Assets
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Total loans and advances which represented 49.3 
percent of total assets, increased by 10.1 percent 
to $1,055.4 billion. This reflects an expansion 
in both local and foreign currency borrowing 
of 9.3 percent and 13.0 percent, respectively. 
Investments grew by 25.4 percent or $99.7 
billion over the review period, while cash and 
bank balances registered growth of 5.7 percent.

Asset quality indicators in the banking system 
deteriorated as a consequence of marked 
increase in the stock of loan delinquencies 
during the review period, due to the negative 
economic impact of the COVID-19 pandemic 
and measures implemented to stem the spread. 
Non-performing loans increased by 31.4 percent 

to $30.54 billion at the end of the FY2020/21 
from $23.24 billion at the end of the FY2019/20. 

In response to and in of light of the financial 
difficulties faced by customers, arising from the 
measures to stem the spread of the COVID-19 
virus, Policyholders offered a number of 
programmes to assist borrowers in maintaining 
their facilities. The main facility offered was 
moratoriums on loans in an attempt to stymie 
the negative impact of the pandemic on their 
customers. These moratoriums ranged from 3 
to 12 months. There was increased demand for 
these facilities over the year, however at the end 
of December the demand represented less than 
20 percent of the stock of loans.

Nonetheless, the ratio of 
non-performing loans to total 
gross loans remained sound, 
only slightly worsening to 2.9 
percent from 2.4 percent during 
the corresponding period in 
FY2019/20 (See Figure 4). All 
three sub-sectors recorded out-
turns for the NPLs to total loan 
ratio well within the prudential 
maximum of 10 percent. 

Figure 3: Non - Performing Loans as at end
March 2017 - 2021

Figure 4: NPLs in the Banking System
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In light of the increased loan defaults, Policyholders shored up loan loss provisions. Loan loss 
provisioning was up 33.5 percent to $32.1 billion at the end of the FY2020/21 when compared to $24.0 
billion at the end of the FY2019/20. Consequently, NPL coverage, as measured by the ratio of loan-loss 
provisions to NPLs, expanded to 105.3 percent by end March 2021 from 103.6 percent as at end March 
2020. During the review period, the ratio peaked at 127.4 percent, well above the prudential minimum 
of 50.0 percent (See Figure 5).

The ratio of NPL to capital plus provisioning for the banking system increased 1.4 percentage points 
to 11.8 percent during the fiscal year. Of note, all three sub-sectors satisfied the prudential maximum 
of 20 percent.

Figure 5: Ratio of Loan Loss Provision to Non-performing Loans

Figure 6: Regulatory Capital Base
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REGULATORY CAPITAL  

The banking system was well poised 
in terms of capital at the onset of the 
pandemic, and as at end FY2020/21, 
it remained adequately capitalized, 
solvent and operating above the 
prudential requirements. Regulatory 
capital increased by 13.9 percent to 
$226.1 billion (Figure 6). With this 
increase, capital adequacy indicators 
such as the risk-weighted capital 
adequacy ratio and the primary 
ratio returned favourable outcomes 
of 14.3 percent and 10.9 percent, 
respectively. These results compare to 
14.2 percent and 10.7 percent at the 
end of FY2020/21 (See Figures 7 & 
8). The regulatory minimums are 10.0 
percent and 6.0 percent for the capital 
adequacy ratio and the primary ratio, 
respectively.
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Figure 7: Primary Ratios 
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LIQUIDITY 

Policyholders exhibited resilience against 
liquidity risk during FY2020/21, supported 
by BOJ’s numerous pre-emptive measures to 
ensure Policyholders had adequate access 
to liquidity, both Jamaica dollar and foreign 
currencies at the height of the COVID-19 crisis. 

Among these measures were the reduction in 
cash reserve requirement for all currencies, 
asset buyback programme, as well as Emergency 
Liquidity Facility for DTIs to ensure that credit 
can continue to be extended to the productivity 

sector, as well as liquidity support such as early 
encashment of securities without penalties inter 
alia. 

Total average liquid assets within the system 
increased 11.1 percent to $476.2 billion, up from 
$428.5 billion at end March 2020. Total average 
foreign currency liquid assets increased 13.2 
percent to $253.3 billion, while total average 
domestic currency cash reserve declined 16.8 
percent to $40.5 billion.

Figure 8: Risk Weighted 
Capital Adequacy Ratio  

Figure 7: Primary Ratios 
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This was mainly due to flat income growth, elevated costs and the increase in loan loss provisioning 
resulting from the rise of NPLs in the loan portfolio. Interest income grew 0.3 percent or $322 million 
and non-interest income contracted 3.7 percent or $3.2 billion during the review period. Interest 
expense and non-interest expense increased 0.9 percent ($163 million) and 15.8 percent ($20.9 billion), 
respectively. Net Interest Margin was 6.1 percent relative to 6.8 percent for the prior period.

At the sub-sector level, pre-tax profits in commercial banks decreased by 54.8 percent to $20.6 billion, 
accounting for 74.2 percent of total profits in the system during the review period (See Table 6). This 
was reflective of a 6.4 percent decline in non-interest income primarily from dividends and losses on 
shares. 

Building societies recorded an increase in pre-tax profits of 288.2 percent due mainly to higher non-
interest income (See Table 6). Similarly, merchant banks recorded an increase of 191.8 percent in 
pre-tax profits as a result of an increase in non-interest income driven by a substantial increase in 
foreign currency trading gains. The banking system’s efficiency ratio improved to 85.3 percent from 
87.3 percent at end FY2019/20.

PROFITABILITY

For FY2020/21, declining profitability of the banking sector reflected the economic impact of the 
pandemic. The system remained profitable, though it registered pre-tax profits of $27.7 billion, a 
steep decline (41.4 percent) from end FY2019/20 (Figure 9). 

Figure 9: System Pre - Tax Profits
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Commercial Banks $45.6 $20.6 (54.8)

Building Societies $1.8 $7.1 288.2

Merchant Banks ($0.80) $0.73 191.8

 Sub-Sectors    FY2019/20 FY2020/21 Percentage Change
  ($Bn) ($Bn)    

Table 6: Pre-Tax Profit Per Sub-Sector
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PROFILE OF DEPOSITS

PROFILE OF DEPOSITS ELIGIBLE FOR DEPOSIT INSURANCE COVERAGE – INSURABLE DEPOSITS

The dollar value of total insurable deposits in 
the banking system increased 17.7 percent to 
$1,331.7 billion at the end of December 20207 

relative to $1,131.3 billion at the end of the 
corresponding period in 2019 (See Figure 10 
and Table 7). Similarly, the number of insurable 
deposit accounts increased 6.5 percent from 4.4 

million accounts at the end of 2019 to 4.6 million 
accounts at the end of 2020. As a consequence of 
the larger increase in the dollar value of insurable 
deposits compared to the number of insurable 
accounts, the average insurable deposit balance 
increased 10.6 percent to $285,561 in 2020, up 
from the $258,281 recorded at the end of 2019. 

 7  The Survey of Insurable Deposits is conducted using data as at December 31 each year.
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Figure 10: Total Estimated Insurable Deposits

Commercial Banks      1,035.3      91.5      1,220.7      91.7

Building Societies     94.0      8.3      109.0      8.1

Merchant Banks      2.0      0.2      2.0      0.2

Total      1,131.3      100.0      1,331.7      100.0

Table 7: Total Insurable Deposits as at December 31, 2019 & December 31, 2020

Sub-Sectors    Dec’19      Dec’19     Dec’20      Dec’20
  ($Bn)     (% share)      ($Bn)      (% share)

At the end of each calendar year, the Corporation 
conducts a Survey of the Distribution of Insurable 
Deposits (Survey) held at member institutions. 
Insurable Deposits refer to the total deposits in 
the banking system excluding the deposits of 
Government entities and member institutions. 

This Survey provides an estimate of the 
Corporation’s potential liabilities (estimated 
insured deposits), as well as the base for the 
calculation of the annual premium paid by each 
member institution on April 1 of the following year.
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INSURABLE DEPOSITS HELD IN DOMESTIC AND FOREIGN CURRENCIES

Both the domestic currency and foreign currency accounts recorded increased deposits as at 
December 2020. Insurable deposits held in domestic currencies increased by 17.5 percent to $775.9 
billion year over year, and accounted for 58.3 percent of total insurable deposits. On the other hand, 
foreign currency insurable deposits grew by 18.0 percent to $555.8 billion and represented 41.7 percent 
of total insurable deposits (Figure 11, Table 8). These results remain largely unchanged from 2019.

PROFILE OF DEPOSITS WITHIN THE DEPOSIT INSURANCE COVERAGE LIMIT- 
ESTIMATED INSURED DEPOSITS

Effective August 31, 2020, the coverage limit on deposits was increased to $1,200,000 from $600,000. 
At this level, estimated insured deposits totalled $525.4 billion at the end of 2020 and accounted for 
39.5 percent of insurable deposits. This represents an increase of 43.2 percent from $366.5 billion 
for 2019. However, adjusted for the coverage limit increase to $1,200,000, total estimated insured 
deposits for 2019 was $466.4 billion, which results in year over year growth of 12.7 percent in estimated 
insured deposits.

Figure 11: Currency Distribution of Insurable Deposits
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Domestic Currency 660.3 776.0 17.5

Foreign Currency 471.0 555.8 18.0

Total 1,131.3 1,331.7 17.7

  Dec’19 ($Bn) Dec’20 ($Bn)    (%Δ)

Table 8: Change in Domestic and Foreign Currency as at December 2020
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2016 2017 2018 2019 2019 (@
$1.2m) 2020

Insurable Deposits ($Bn.) 827 902 999 1,131 1,131 1,332
Insured Deposits ($Bn.) 306 324 346 367 466 525
Insured to Insurable (%) 37.05% 35.91% 34.59% 32.44% 41.23% 39.46%
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Of the total estimated insured deposits, commercial banks continued to account for the largest 
percentage share with 89.7 percent; followed by building societies and merchant banks with 10.3 
percent and 0.04 percent, respectively, both marginally lower than in 2019.

The Deposit Insurance Fund (DIF) balance increased by 16.7 percent to $27.3 billion at the end 2020 
compared to $23.4 billion at the end of 2019.  In this regard, the DIF Reserve Ratio, which is the Fund 
balance as a percentage of total estimated insured deposits, declined 1.2 percentage points to 5.2 
percent at end of the year relative to 6.4 percent at the end of 2019. This decline resulted from the 
increase in the deposit insurance coverage limit which also saw the level of insured deposits within the 
system increase. (See Figure 13). 

Figure 12: Insured to Insurable Deposits

Given that total insurable deposits grew by a larger amount (17.7 percent) compared to insured deposits, 
the ratio of insured deposits to total insurable deposits declined to 39.46 percent in December 2020 
from 41.23 percent in 2019. (See Figure 12 and Table 9).

Table 9: Total Estimated Insured Deposits as at December 31, 2019 & December 31, 2020

Institutions     Dec’19      Dec’19     Dec’20      Dec’20
  ($Bn)     (%)      ($Bn)      (%)

Commercial Banks      416.2      89.2      471.1      89.7

Building Societies      50.0      10.7      54.1    10.3

Merchant Banks    0.2    0.1    0.2      0.0

Total      466.4      100.0      525.4      100.0
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 8  Accounts with balances of $1,200,000 or less

Figure 13: Estimated 
Insured Deposit by 
Sub-Sector

The percentage of insurable deposit accounts that are fully covered increased to 97.3 in December 
2020, up from 95.2 percent in 2019, and indicates that the majority of depositors are protected (Table 
10). This level of coverage also underscores JDIC’s mandate of protecting the majority of retail depositors 
and is in line with the International Association of Deposit Insurers’ (IADI) best practice recommendation 
of fully insuring upwards of 90 – 95 percent of deposit accounts. However, a considerable volume of the 
value of deposits remains unprotected, as fully insured deposits8 accounted for 28.0 percent of insurable 
deposits at the end of 2020. This is up from 21.4 percent in 2019, owing to the doubling of the coverage 
limit to $1,200,000.

2016      205,638,019  826,501,702      24.9      4,001,794      4,169,402      96.0

2017      216,629,133      902,216,107      24.0      3,801,530      3,980,416      95.5

2018      229,819,115      999,438,895      23.0      3,965,915     4,158,800      95.4

2019      241,800,651      1,131,265,495      21.4      4,171,477     4,380,025      95.2

2020      372,781,316      1,331,715,511      28.0      4,536,302      4,663,508      97.3

2019 data is as at December 31, 2019 under the $600,000 coverage limit.

Table 10: Profile of Insured and Insurable Deposit Accounts

Value of Fully
Insured 

Deposits
($‘000)

Year % %Total Value of
Insurable 
Accounts 
($‘000)

Number of 
Fully Insured 

Accounts

Total Number 
of Insurable 

Accounts

PROFILE OF NUMBER OF FULLY INSURED DEPOSIT ACCOUNTS
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Building societies continued to report the largest share of fully covered accounts at 98.3 percent, 
followed by commercial banks at 97.0 percent and merchant banks at 76.2 percent (Table 11).  Given 
that 97.3 percent of deposit accounts in the banking system remain fully covered the Corporation has 
continued to meet its public policy objective of protecting the greater percentage of retail depositors.

Table 11: Fully Covered Accounts as at December 31, 2020

Sub- Sector

Commercial Banks 

Building Societies

Merchant Banks

System Total

Total No. of 
Insurable Accounts

Total No. of Fully 
Insured Accounts

% of Fully 
Insured Accounts 

3,765,609

897,433

466

4,663,508

3,653,809

882,138

355

4,536,302

97.0

98.3

76.2

97.3

GLANCE AT RETAIL AND CORPORATE DEPOSITS

The annual survey of insurable deposits as at December 31, 2020 revealed increases in corporate and 
retail insurable deposits of 19.6 percent and 16.3 percent, respectively. Corporate insurable deposits 
accounted for 43.5 percent or $580.0 billion of total insurable deposits while retail insurable deposits 
accounted for 56.5 percent or $751.8 billion of the total insurable deposits (See Figure 14). The average 
balance in retail deposit accounts was $168,030 compared to corporate deposits with average balance 
of $3.5 million.

Figure 14: Share of the Retail and Corporate Deposits in the System

43.5%
56.5%

Retail Deposits

Corporate Deposits
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Insured retail deposits accounted for approximately 58.7 percent of the total insurable retail deposits, 
while most of the corporate deposits remain uninsured due to their size, with just about 14.1 percent 
of these deposits being insured. Fully insured retail deposits valued $315.9 billion, while fully insured 
corporate deposits amounted to $56.7 billion.

CREDIT UNION SECTOR UPDATE

The Corporation remained in dialogue with the Jamaica Cooperative Credit Union League and the Bank 
of Jamaica during FY2020/21, with the impending passage of the Credit Unions (Special Provisions) Bill 
to bring credit unions under the prudential regulatory framework of the Bank of Jamaica. The passage 
of the legislation will require credit unions to apply for membership in the Deposit Insurance Scheme 
and receive deposit insurance coverage for its members, as obtains with current deposit taking 
institutions. At the end of December 2020 there were 25 credit unions, unchanged from end 2019. 

53J D I C  A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 2 0 / 2 1



REVIEW OF OPERATIONS 
FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

The Corporation had another successful year in-spite of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and the 
down-turn in the economy. It ended the financial year meeting the budgetary targets and the Overall 
Balance Targets. Total Assets at March 31, 2021 was $29.5 billion, an increase of 17.1 percent or $4.3 
billion over the previous year. The increase was due primarily to a 6.2 percent increase in Investments 
to $25.5 billion ($24.0 billion – March 31, 2020), which comprises Government of Jamaica (GOJ) and 
Bank of Jamaica (BOJ) assets, and increases in cash and cash equivalents of $2.88 billion or 334.88 
percent. 

The Corporation’s total income for the year ended March 31, 2021 was $3.7 billion, a decrease of 7.5 
percent over the previous year resulting from reduced foreign exchange gains and no activity relating 
to the disposal of investments. Table 12 summarizes the Corporation’s total income.

Table 12: Total Income 

 Total Income     FY2020/21      FY2020/21      FY2019/20      FY2018/19
                         Actual         Budget                   Actual       Actual
  $M          $M          $M        $M

 Insurance Premiums        1,696.9      1,633.2        1,498.3         1,353.4

 Interest Earned               1,548.7        1,512.6         1,518.4        1,342.8

 Other Income                   470.9                                 -               984.6           (146.9)

 Total Income                   3,716.5          3,145.8        4,001.3          2,549.3
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 The components of Total Income are:

•  Insurance Premiums of $1,696.9 million, which 
increased by 13.3 percent over the previous 
year arising from the increases in insurable 
deposits held by Policyholders;

• Interest Earned of $1,548.7 million, increased 
by 2 percent over the previous year, in a 
low interest rate environment the increase 
resulted from the investment strategies 
employed, and the increase in the additional 
insurance premiums available for investment;

• Other Income which decreased by 52 percent 
over the previous year, resulting mainly from 
the decrease in foreign exchange conversion 
transactions and there being no disposal of 
investments.

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Actual Administrative expenditure was $351.4 
million, which was up 21.88 percent when 
compared with the previous year’s expenditures 

of $288.3 million. This outturn was due mainly 
to higher expenditures of staff costs, public 
education activities and professional fees. 

Actual Expenses compared to budget for 
FY2020/21, was 48.4 percent lower mainly due to 
staff costs not incurred consequent on the delayed 
approval from the MoFPS for implementation 
of recommendations from the organisational 
review, job evaluation and salary reclassification 
submitted in August 2018. Additionally, budgeted 
professional fees were lower due mainly to the 
deferral of some projects during the COVID-19 
pandemic period and the general reduction in 
other operational activities.

Administrative Expenses as a Percentage of 
the DIF and Total Assets

Administrative Expenses for the year to March 
31, 2021 was 1.3 percent (2020: 1.2 percent) of 
the DIF and 9.5 percent (2020: 7.2 percent) of 
total income. The distribution of administrative 
expenses is shown in Table 13.
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Taking into account the administrative expenses and the impairment loss on financial assets of $0.2 
million (2020: $3.4 million) the Corporation achieved a surplus on operations of $3,364.9 million as 
at March 31, 2021, a decrease of 9.3 percent over the previous financial year. Despite the economic 
challenges, the Corporation was able to achieve a Surplus from Operations to Total Income ratio of 
90.5 percent (Refer Table 14).

Administrative 
Expenses

FY2020/21
Budget

FY2019/20
Actual

FY2018/19
Actual

Staff Costs      222.6      63      395.2      58      196.7      67      172.3      57

Public Education       38.7      11      46.2      7      16.4      6      47.1      16

Professional Fees      27.7      8      109.3      16      22.4      8      24.5      8

Depreciation      16.9      5      17.0     2      6.5      2      6.7     2

Other      45.5      13      113.4      17      46.3      16      43.7      15

TOTAL      351.4      100      681.1      100      288.3     100      301.4      100

$M $M $M $M% % % %

Table 13: Summary of Administrative Expenses Distribution
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OVERALL BALANCE TARGET (OBT) 

The Overall Balance Target (OBT), which shows the cash generated from operations for the year agreed 
with the MoFPS, which are quarterly financial targets to assess the performance of the Corporation. 
The budgeted OBT for the year was $2,439.65 million and the actual out-turn was $5,303.48 million, 
which was $2,863.83 million higher than projected. This is due mainly to Corporation’s better overall 
performance as a result of increases in income, reduction in administrative expenses and the 
prepayment of deposit insurance premiums. 

In achieving the targets, the Corporation ended the year with total assets of $29.5 billion, which was 
an increase of 17.1 percent over the previous year’s total assets of $25.2 billion. This increase was due 
to the 17.4 percent increase in investment securities and cash and cash equivalents.

DEPOSIT INSURANCE FUND MANAGEMENT

During FY2020/21 the Deposit Insurance Fund (DIF/the Fund) grew by 13.6 percent to $28.1 billion, 
when compared to the balance of $24.7 billion in the previous year. Over the five-year period since 
April 1, 2016, the DIF increased by 69.9 percent. Growth of the Fund over the last five years is as 
follows:

Insurance Premiums      1,696.9      1,633.2      1,498.3      1,353.4      1,239.5

Surplus from Investment 
and Administrative
Operations:

Interest Earned      1,548.7      1,512.6      1,518.4      1,342.8      1,200.5

Other Income      470.9                           -      984.5     (146.9)     106.2

Total Interest Earneda      2,019.6      1,512.6      2,502.9      1,195.9      1,306.7
and Other Income

Administrative Expenses      (351.4)      (681.1)      (288.3)      (294.3)      (244.4)

Impairment Loss on      (0.2)                          -      (3.4)      (7.1)                           -
Financial Assets

Surplus from Investment      1,668.0      831.5      2,211.2      894.5      1,062.3
and Administrative
Operations

Surplus from Operations      3,364.9      2,464.7      3,709.5      2,247.9     2,301.8

FY2020/21
Actual 

 $M

FY2019/20
Actual 

$M

FY2018/19
Actual 

$M

FY 2017/18
Actual 

$M

Statement of Surplus 
or Deficit and Other 
Comprehensive Income

Table 14: Deposit Insurance Fund Statement of Surplus or Deficit and Other Comprehensive Income

FY2020/21 
Budget

$M
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Insurance Premiums      1,696.9      1,498.3      1,353.4      1,239.6      1,076.6

Surplus from Investment  1,668.2 2,214.6 901.6 1,062.2 1,265.5
and Administrative
Operations

Impairment Loss      (0.2)                       (3.4)      (7.1)                           -                                 -
on Securities 

Previous Year Deposit      24,737.1      21,027.6      18,844.0      16,542.2      14,200.1
Insurance Fund

Initial Application of IFRS 9                    -                                -     (64.3)                         -                                   - 

Deposit Insurance Fund     28,102.0     24,737.1      21,027.6     18,844.0     16,542.2

FY2019/20
$M

FY2020/21
$M

FY2018/19
$M

FY2017/18
$M

FY2016/17
$M

Actual Fund 
Growth Details

Table 15: Five-Year Fund Growth

Investment decisions were undertaken in 
accordance with the provisions of the DIA; the 
Corporation’s Investment Policy; the annual 
Investment Guidelines and recommendations 
arising from the DIF Adequacy Evaluation relating 
to projected liquidity requirements. Although 
the financial year was characterized by relative 
inactivity of GOJ issues due to decided fiscal 
policy, and reduced market trades and interest 
rates continuing on a downward trend and 

levelling off at the lower rates, the Corporation 
met its liquidity requirements.

The Corporation maintained the DIF Adequacy 
Evaluation recommendation to have in the 12 
months’ tenor, liquid assets of $3 billion. The 
investment maturity profile at the end of the 
financial year compared with previous years are 
as follows:

Table 16: Investment Portfolio Maturity Profile

  FY2020/21      FY2019/20      FY2018/19      FY2017/18
  %          %         %        %

 Up to 12 months       7.5     4.7        7.3         13.0

 1 – 3 Years               11.7       17.7        16.3        14.8

 3- 5 Years                  40.5                              23.6             12.8           11.3

 Over 5 Years                 40.3                            54.0            63.6           60.9

 Total                   100.0          100.0       100.0          100.0

Tenor of Actual 
Investment Securities
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Table 17: Investment Securities Portfolio Distribution

Investment Securities   FY2020/21      FY2019/20      FY2018/19      FY2017/18
  Distribution Distribution Distribution Distribution
  %          %         %        %

Fixed Rate Accreting Notes     31.1    32.6       35.7         40.4

Benchmark Investment Notes          31.1      35.5        32.6        20.5

GOJ US$ Global Bonds           30.3                             27.4            26.3          30.3

BOJ US$ CDs            2.4                          -           -           -

BOJ CDs 1.0 3.3 4.3 7.6  

Interest Accrued 4.1 1.2 1.1 1.2 

Total Income                   100.0          100.0       100.0          100.0

The reduction in the ratio of longer term instruments was achieved to maintain the liquidity position 
and ended the year with 40.3 percent of the securities with tenor of five years and over compared 
with 54 percent in the previous year. Table 17 shows the investment securities portfolio distribution 
and comparison with the three previous years.

KEY PERFORMANCE RATIOS

The Key Performance Ratios (Table 18) showed that the Corporation performed at an acceptable level. 
This was despite the developments in the economy and strategies that had to be implemented to 
minimize the disruptions to its operations and safeguard staff and stakeholders, consequent to the 
measures put in place in response to the COVID-19 pandemic and limitations in the availability of 
suitable investment instruments.
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Table 18: Summary of Key Performance Ratios

Key Performance Definition  FY2020/21     FY2020/21      FY2019/20      FY2018/19
Ratios  Actual Budget Actual Actual
         %         %        % %

Operating   Total Expenses /Interest    17.4   31.0       11.7         25.2
   Earned and Other Income

Expense Control  Total Expenses/         9.5      21.6        7.3        11.8
  Total Income

Total Expenses Total Expenses/Surplus           10.4 27.6           7.9         13.4
  from Operations

Total Expenses to DIF Total Expenses/Deposit            1.2                          2.6           1.2          1.4
  Insurance Fund

Net Surplus Surplus from Operations/ 90.5 78.3 92.7 88.2
  Total Income  

Return on Assets Surplus from Operations/ 11.4 9.4 14.7 10.8
  Total Average Assets

Asset Management Total Income/Total Assets  12.6 10.5 15.9 12.3 

Insurance Premiums Insurance Premiums/              45.7          51.9       37.4          53.1
to Total Income Total Income  

Summary of Key Performance Ratios

60 J D I C  A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 2 0 / 2 1



SUMMARY FINANCIAL PROJECTIONS FOR YEAR 
ENDING MARCH 31, 2022
DEPOSIT INSURANCE FUND STATEMENT OF SURPLUS OR 
DEFICIT AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

DEPOSIT INSURANCE FUND STATEMENT OF 
FINANCIAL POSITION

YEAR ENDING
MARCH 31, 2022

$’000

YEAR ENDING
MARCH 31, 2022

$’000

MARCH 31, 2022
$’000

Total Income 3,483,603

Total Expenses (680,634)

Surplus from Operations 2,802,969

Surplus from Operations – Balance at Beginning of the Year   28,037,664

Deposit Insurance Fund – Balance at End of the Year  30,840,633

Total Inflow 10,938,864

Total Outflow before Investments (1,235,148)

 Investments (12,682,651)

 Net inflow/outflow (2,978,935)

 Balance at Beginning of the Year 3,026,042

 Balance at End of the Year 47,107

Property, Plant and Equipment 486,206

 Investment Securities 30,827,570

 Current Assets 100,518

 Total Assets 31,414,294

Current Liabilities 31,876

Unearned Premium Income -

Share Capital 1,000

 Capital Reserves 158,145

 Fair Value Reserves 382,640

 Deposit Insurance Fund 30,840,633

 Total Liabilities 31,414,294
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MONITORING AND RISK ASSESSMENT

During FY2020/21, the Corporation intensified 
its monitoring and risk assessment of member 
institutions due to the uncertainties brought 
on by the COVID-19 pandemic. This was 
particularly necessary to ensure the Corporation 
was proactive in identifying any potential risk 
to the Deposit Insurance Fund and member 
institutions’ businesses and to coordinate in an 
effective manner with FSSN partners to respond 
to any potential distress on the part of member 
institutions. This is in keeping with the JDIC’s 
public policy objective to provide the highest 
level of deposit insurance protection to the most 
vulnerable depositors and to contribute to the 
confidence and the maintenance of Jamaica’s 
financial system.

In this regard, the Corporation continued to work 
closely with the BOJ and other FSSN partners to 
satisfy the required information needs to facilitate 
the enhanced monitoring. The Corporation 
also worked closely with member institutions 
to ensure that data sharing was secure, given 
the sudden thrust to remote working, brought 
about as one of the measures to help contain the 
spread of the pandemic. The Corporation also 
maintained collaborative work with the Jamaica 
Cooperative Credit Union League in preparation 
for the admission of the credit union sector to 
the DIS.

The members of the Monitoring and Risk 
Assessment Department’s (MRAD) skills were 
sharpened with additional training in relevant 
areas specific to the uncertainties of the operating 
environment and issues impacting member 
institutions as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. 
The intensified training/exposure of the MRAD 

members included several virtual workshops 
and training sessions in areas such as advanced 
asset quality assessment, sensitivity analysis, 
stress testing and deposit insurance, offered by 
both local and international organisations. Team 
members also served on Technical Working 
Groups of the Financial System Safety Net, as well 
as internationally, Deposit Insurance Technical 
Working Groups.

Below are some of the highlights of the 
monitoring and risk assessment function and 
accomplishments during the year.

DEPOSIT INSURANCE COVERAGE LIMIT

The Corporation, as part of its periodic review 
of the Deposit Insurance Coverage Framework, 
conducted a thorough review of the Deposit 
Insurance Coverage Limit to ensure it remains 
credible and preserves the purchasing power 
of depositors, while minimizing moral hazard. 
The review considered developments in the 
macroeconomic environment including, inflation 
and exchange rate movements and how they 
impacted the real value of the Coverage Limit, 
as well as nature and quality of the prudential 
regulatory environment and the soundness of 
Policyholders. 

On completion of the assessment of the Coverage 
Limit, a recommendation was made for the 
Coverage Limit to be increased to $1,200,000 
from $600,000. Following the Board’s agreement 
and approval the recommendation was forwarded 
to the Minister of Finance and the Public Service 
for approval and submission to the Lower and 
Upper Houses of Parliament for approval, which 
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was received, and the increase gazetted, which brought it into effect on August 31, 2020. This was the 
third adjustment and increase since establishment of the JDIC in 1998 (Figure 15).

DEPOSIT INSURANCE FUND ADEQUACY EVALUATION

The Deposit Insurance Fund (DIF/the Fund) was 
evaluated to be adequate for the FY2020/21 based 
on the assessed risk of the member institutions for 
the reporting period.  The Corporation, consistent 
with the DIA, is required to evaluate the DIF at 
least once per year. The Fund was assessed 
against the macroeconomic developments, with 
emphasis on the uncertainties brought on by 
the COVID-19 pandemic, the financial system 
and the performance and risk exposure of the 
member institutions, in order to ensure the Fund 
is adequate to meet its objective of protecting 
the most vulnerable depositors. In this regard, 
the Corporation completed the annual Deposit 
Insurance Fund Adequacy Evaluation (DIFAE/ 
Evaluation), during FY2020/21, considering the 
Corporation’s liabilities and potential liabilities, 
its capital and operating expenses as well as the 
management and the financial performance of 
member institutions. Given the uncertainties 
associated with the pandemic, a mid-year 

evaluation of the Fund was done to determine if 
the prior findings and recommendations still hold.  
These exercises also rank member institutions 
based on assessed risks and act as a guide to the 
Corporation for the management of its liquidity 
and ensuring adequate funding is available for 
prompt reimbursement to depositors in the event 
a member institution becomes non-viable. The 
evaluation and assessment was shared with 
the Committee of Management, the Board of 
Directors and the BOJ and further disclosure 
made in keeping with the PBMA.

In light of the uncertainties associated with the 
pandemic, the scenarios were further stressed to 
determine the liquidity needs of the Corporation 
for the ensuing year, rather than the usual normal 
time performance. Based on the assessment, it 
was determined that the DIF was adequate to 
cover existing and potential liabilities for the 
year ahead. The risks posed by the member 
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institutions were deemed low and no resolution 
was anticipated during FY2020/21.

During the year the Corporation, in conjunction 
with the Inter-American Development Bank (IDB) 
as part of their Technical Cooperation Financial 
System Reform Support Programme and their 
contribution to the further strengthening of 
Jamaica’s financial system, developed a terms of 
reference for the engagement of a Consultant to 
conduct an independent assessment of the Fund 
for completion in FY2021/22.  This was in keeping 
with Section 17(4) of the DIA. 

SURVEY OF INSURABLE DEPOSITS

For the period under review the Corporation 
conducted its annual Survey of the Distribution 
of Insurable Deposits, on member institutions 
deposit base as at December 2020, which 
determined that the Corporation is covering 
approximately 97.3 percent of deposit accounts 
in the system.  This is consistent with the IADI 
recommendation for Deposit Insurers to cover 
at least 90-95 percent of deposit accounts in the 
system.

Member institutions are required to submit details 
of their insurable deposit base to the JDIC, by 
the end of January of each year. This Survey 
provides critical empirical information used by 
the Corporation in its planning and preparation 
to ensure it can promptly satisfy its mandate 
of protecting depositors and contributing to 

financial stability. From the data received, the 
JDIC is able to estimate the amount of insured 
deposits, which plays a part in determining the 
adequacy of the Fund. The Survey data also helps 
to inform the design features of the DIS (including 
the deposit products which are covered, as well 
as the coverage limit).   

In depth details of the findings of the Survey can 
be found in the ‘Profile of Deposits’ under the 
‘Policyholders’ Profile and Performance’ section.

MEMBERSHIP ADMISSION FRAMEWORK

The Corporation continued to maintain its strong 
communication and partnership with member 
institutions and prospective members of the 
DIS. Membership compliance is critical to the 
operations of the Corporation and is consistent 
with the reporting requirements of the DIA, and 
the Membership Admission Framework of the 
Corporation.

Consistent with the on-going drafting of the 
Bill, Credit Unions (Special Provisions) Act, the 
Corporation remained in preparation mode for 
credit union sector’s admission to the DIS.  In that 
regard, the Corporation continued its collaborative 
work with the Jamaica Cooperative Credit Union 
League and Bank of Jamaica and continued its 
informal monitoring and risk assessment of the 
sector including collecting information on the 
sector’s insurable deposit base and product 
profiles.
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INTERVENTION AND RESOLUTION

The Corporation’s intervention and resolution 
functions are critical in ensuring the fulfillment of 
its mandate to protect depositors and contribute 
to financial system confidence and stability.  
During the year, initiatives were prioritized to 
ensure the Corporation continued to operate in 
a constant state of readiness to carry out its core 
functions of resolving non-viable Policyholders 
(member institutions) and reimbursing insured 
depositors in light of the evolving developments 
and uncertainties related to the COVID-19 
pandemic. The Corporation’s intervention 
and resolution activities for the review period 
were also guided by its enhanced monitoring 
of Policyholders’ performance, the increased 
information sharing and collaboration with 
the other financial safety net partners and the 
developments in the domestic and global financial 
systems and operating environments.

Against this background, intensified focus was 
placed on testing and enhancing the Corporation’s 
procedures and systems in relation to: resolving 
non-viable member institutions; making depositor 
reimbursements; operationalizing the Crisis 
Preparedness and Management Plan as well as 
conducting more frequent simulation exercises 
during the period.  

Enhancing Resolution Readiness and Crisis 
Preparedness

The Corporation is responsible for resolving 
member institutions, their holding companies and 
subsidiaries that are no longer viable pursuant 
to its roles and functions under the DIA. When 
a financial institution fails, the Corporation may 
be appointed to act as receiver and liquidator 
to restructure the member institution in 
collaboration with the other FSSN partners 
and using the least cost resolution strategy. In 
preparation for carrying out its role in resolution, 

the JDIC conducts a variety of agency specific and 
inter-agency initiatives to ensure the adequacy 
of its legal and operating framework and build its 
institutional capacity, guided by international best 
practice standards.

Evaluating Crisis Preparedness and Resolution 
Readiness  

Throughout FY2020/21, activities included 
reviewing and updating procedural documents 
developed to operationalize the execution 
of the Corporation’s statutory role in the 
resolution of non-viable member institutions, 
as well as strengthening staff competencies. 
These activities were conducted during a series 
of staff training, sensitization and simulation 
exercises. The exercises were designed to 
sharpen team members’ skills, test and update 
targeted operational aspects of the JDIC’s 
Crisis Preparedness and Management Plan and 
the resolution decision making process, assess 
the efficacy of existing processes and address 
identified areas for improvement. This included 
testing the triggers to activate the JDIC’s 
Crisis Management Plan; assessing JDIC’s role 
throughout the various steps to close a failing 
bank and the internal decision-making structure 
and levels of authority. Other activities were also 
focused on reviewing the types of information 
required about a Policyholder showing signs of 
financial distress to facilitate preparatory planning 
and decision making for resolution in collaboration 
with the other FSSN members and identifying and 
developing the supporting analytical tools.   

Legislative Reforms - Drafting of the Legislation 
to Establish a Special Resolution Regime

In regard to key legislative reforms, the 
Corporation continued its collaboration with 
the other members of the FSSN to strengthen 
the framework for the resolution of non-viable 
financial institutions and the management of 

65J D I C  A N N U A L  R E P O R T  2 0 2 0 / 2 1



systemic crises. Under the rubric of the FRC and 
its supporting technical working groups, two 
initiatives are being undertaken in this regard;   
these include, developing the special resolution 
regime for all financial institutions and updating 
the National Financial Crisis Preparedness and 
Management Plan. Both initiatives will continue 
in the next financial year.

The drafting of the legislation to establish a special 
resolution regime that better aligns Jamaica’s legal 
framework with the Financial Stability Board’s 
Key Attributes of Effective Resolution Regimes 
for Financial Institutions, seeks to achieve the 
following: administrative powers to effect a broad 
range of resolution strategies; special insolvency 
rules for financial institutions; designating the 
BOJ as the Resolution Authority and the JDIC as 
the Resolution Administrator and resolution fund 
manager.  The JDIC’s roles are consistent with its 
existing powers and competencies under the DIA 
to act as receiver and liquidator and restructure 
Policyholders, their holding companies and 
subsidiaries. In preparation for the passing 
of the legislation to enhance the resolution 
framework and the Corporation’s expanded role, 
focus continues on refining the model for the 
Corporation’s resolution organisation structure 
to ensure alignment with the key resolution 
functions, as well as staff training in the various 
areas. 

Updating the National Financial Crisis 
Preparedness and Management Plan

The National Financial Crisis Preparedness and 
Management Plan (the Plan) provides operational 
guidance on the processes and coordinated 
actions of each FSSN member in preparing for 
and managing a crisis, based on their respective 
statutory mandates. The scope of the FRC multi-
agency review that commenced during the year 
includes updating the Plan and its compendium 
of supporting documents to reflect the current 
legal framework and to be responsive to emerging 
developments in the global and domestic 

economies and financial systems. The review 
process includes conducting FSSN multi-agency 
crisis management training and simulation 
exercises scheduled for FY2021/2022.

Providing Depositors with Timely and Easy 
Access to Insured Deposits 

A critical responsibility of the Corporation is to 
ensure that in the event of the failure of a member 
institution and regardless of the decided resolution 
strategy, all insured depositors are provided with 
timely and easy access to their insured deposits. 
In keeping with the Corporation’s thrust to 
leverage technologies to improve its efficiencies 
and meet depositor expectations underpinned 
by its statutory mandate, progress was made to 
complete the development and implementation 
of the first version of the Corporation’s new 
Payout Management Information System 
(PMIS, the System). The PMIS is one of the key 
components of the Corporation’s Depositor 
Reimbursement Framework that will facilitate 
timely and easy access to insured deposits in 
the event of a Policyholder failure. The System 
is designed to fully automate the processes for 
the determination and computation of each 
depositor’s entitlement to deposit insurance 
including the algorithms for the various ownership 
categories and other coverage rules.  

During the year the Corporation also advanced its 
plans to start using the System to conduct payout 
simulation exercises that will form part of the 
ongoing operational activities for crisis readiness 
going forward. The objectives of the payout 
simulation exercises are to ensure end users remain 
knowledgeable of the functionalities and use of 
the PMIS and to identify system enhancements 
to further improve the payout business process 
and modernize the reimbursement channels in 
line with the evolutions in financial technology.

During non-crisis periods the PMIS will also be 
used to conduct the Corporation’s independent 
verification of each member institution’s level of 
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9 The IADI has reported that based on the results of a recent survey, 
the overall number of working days necessary to complete payout 
by DIOs is 30 days. This timeline has remained constant for the 
period 2016 -2020. Source IADI. (2021). Policy Note: Effective 
Reimbursement System and Processes. International Association of 
Deposit Insurers Policy Note No. 1

10 The Bank of Jamaica (the Bank, BOJ) has the legal responsibility for 
oversight of the National Payment System as provided for in the 
Payment Clearing and Settlement Act (PCSA), 2010.

11  Where a PSP will provide services relating to inter alia, issuing or 
acquiring payment instruments and transferring money or value, 
including issuance of electronic money

compliance with the “Recordkeeping Guidelines 
for all JDIC Policyholders” (the Guidelines) to 
complement the current annual self-assessment 
activities conducted by member institutions.  
The reliability of depositor records and member 
institutions’ capability to produce such records 
in the standard format stated in the Guidelines 
are also essential elements to ensure depositors 
have timely and accurate access to their insured 
deposits9 in the event of the failure of a member 
institution. Against this background work also 
continued during the review period to refine 
the Recordkeeping Guidelines Compliance 
Framework for subsequent implementation, and 
develop process documents to operationalize the 
access to depositor records prior to a member 
institution closure.

Providing “pass through deposit insurance 
coverage” to support Financial Services 
Innovations

Initiatives to promote member institutions and 
other financial intermediaries’ compliance with 
the recordkeeping and disclosure requirements 
where the beneficiaries of trust and nominee 
accounts are eligible for separate deposit 
insurance coverage pursuant to the DIA, were 
delayed. These initiatives will recommence in 
FY2021/22  and are being  reassessed to ensure 
alignment with the BOJ’s  reforms to the payment, 
clearing and settlement systems.10 Particularly 
in regard to the development of the regulatory 
framework for Payment Service Providers (PSP)11 
that are not deposit-taking institutions and 

the issuance of the  BOJ’s Fintech Regulatory 
Sandbox Guidelines. The development of the 
BOJ’s regulatory framework has implications 
for the scope of deposit insurance coverage 
and the JDIC’s operations. This highlights the 
importance of the Corporation developing 
guidance for member institutions and specifically 
other financial intermediaries, including Payment 
Service Providers that are required to maintain 
custodian accounts with a Policyholder (i.e. 
statutory trust accounts), as well as ensuring 
the necessary collaboration with the BOJ in the 
development of the regulatory framework for 
Payment Service Providers. 

Payment Service Providers that are required as 
part of the licensing regime to maintain custodian 
accounts with a Policyholder, will be eligible for 
deposit insurance coverage and are required to 
comply with the recordkeeping and disclosure 
requirements as stated in the Deposit Insurance 
(Joint, Trust and Nominee Account) Regulations 
and the Guidelines. The eligibility/entitlement of 
the beneficiaries of PSP custodian accounts to 
deposit insurance aligns with the Corporation’s 
public policy objective, supports innovations 
in financial services and promotes financial 
inclusion. It is to be noted however, that this 
type of coverage also referred to as “pass through 
deposit insurance coverage” is applicable only in 
the event of the failure of the Policyholder that 
maintains the custodian account and not the 
failure of the PSP.
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PUBLIC EDUCATION AND AWARENESS

Collaboration and coordination with FSSN 
partners, member institutions and other key 
stakeholders continue to provide a valuable 
platform for Deposit Insurers to promote public 
awareness of deposit insurance systems and fulfill 
their public policy objective of contributing to 
financial system confidence and stability. During 
the financial year the Corporation continued to 
leverage this and other strategies and initiatives to 
reach and engage its publics; ensuring depositors 
remained assured of the protection offered 
under the deposit insurance scheme. Given the 
challenges presented by the COVID-19 pandemic, 
the Corporation actively sought to implement 
pragmatic solutions to address its impact, 
including adapting quickly to the virtual space as 
a strategy to continue engaging depositors and 
other stakeholders and intensifying its public 
education campaign.

With the increase in the deposit insurance 
coverage limit to $1.2M on August 31, 2020, the 
campaign was further heightened during the 
period and up to the end of the financial year. 
Implemented during the pandemic, the doubling 
of the coverage limit was significant and served 
to boost depositors’ confidence in the financial 
system, as they were guaranteed this additional 
protection during this period of uncertainty. 
Promotion of the increase was carried out under 
the theme ‘You’ve Been Upgraded’, and included 
a digital town hall, radio and television interviews, 
development of new advertisements and 
increased advertising in print and on electronic 
platforms, including social media.

The Corporation continued to monitor the impact 
of the COVID-19 pandemic on the financial sector 
to determine whether there was need to further 
heighten the programme; however, Policyholders 
remained resilient and financial consumers’ 
confidence undaunted.

Advertising and Promotion

Traditional and new media continue to play a 
critical role in the Corporation’s drive to build 
awareness about the JDIC brand and the DIS. 
Traditional media has maintained its credibility 
as a vehicle through which organisations can 
engage a wider cross section of the public through 
messaging placed in print and electronic media. 
As such, the Corporation continued its use of 
targeted radio and television programmes to 
educate and reinforce in the minds of Jamaicans 
the value of an explicit deposit protection system 
and the provisions under the DIS.

To inform regarding JDIC member institutions, the 
Corporation maintained its quarterly publication 
of Policyholders listing in local and overseas 
newspapers. Other advertisements over the 
period focused on highlighting the increased 
coverage limit, products covered and ownership 
categories and included the use of billboards 
and public transportation. Specific groupings 
at the community level were also targeted via 
the placement of advertisements in various 
publications such as business magazines and 
service clubs newsletters.

The enhanced and increased use of social media 
platforms has boosted stakeholder awareness of 
the JDIC and the DIS among its online audience, 
while simultaneously tapping into the millennial 
and GenZ demographic, who are avid users of 
social media platforms. Additionally, as part of 
efforts to ensure that the core messages of the 
public education campaign reached Jamaicans of 
all socio-economic backgrounds, visual content 
informing commuters about the mandate of the 
JDIC and the provisions of the DIS was placed on 
the Jamaica Urban Transit Company’s (JUTC) Wi-
Fi platform which commuters could readily access 
free of cost.
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JDIC team members along with (L-R) 
Antoinette McKain, CEO, JDIC and 
Myrtle Halsall, OD, Board Chairman 
pause for a team photo.

President of the Jamaica Bankers Association, Jerome 
Smalling having an animated discussion with fellow 
presenters Myrtle Halsall, OD, JDIC Board Chairman, 
Antoinette McKain, Chief Executive Officer, JDIC and 
Melanie Williams, Financial Inclusion Coordinator at the 
Bank of Jamaica. Financial Inclusion Coordinator 

at the Bank of Jamaica, Melanie 
Williams engages participants on 
Consumer Protection Mechanisms 
for the Banking System.

Myrtle Halsall, OD Chairman 
of the JDIC Board of Directors 
enjoys a light moment with 
participants as she speaks on how 
Deposit Insurance Contributes to 
Financial Stability.

Chief Executive Office, Antoinette 
McKain speaking on the benefits 
of Deposit Insurance and its role 
in Financial System Stability.

DIGITAL TOWNHALL
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Corporate Website

In keeping with the Corporation’s thrust to increase 
its visibility and continue to engage its stakeholders 
and the general public, a web designer was engaged 
to enhance the functionality and aesthetics of 
the existing website, while augmenting the user 
interface. This is intended to provide a more 
seamless experience for its internal and external 
stakeholders and extend the reach of corporate 
information and public education and awareness 
among its target publics. The new website is 
expected to be launched during FY2021/22.

Financial Literacy

A key focus of the Corporation in the delivery of 
its public education programme is the promotion 
of financial literacy, with emphasis on schools and 
empowering youths from an early age to secure 
their financial independence. Having determined 
that these efforts could be more impactful if 
greater focus is placed on primary school students, 
the Corporation embarked on the development 
of a financial education book for the benefit of 
children at the primary level, the manuscript for 
which is currently in its final stages. In addition to 
deposit insurance, the content will address key 
areas of the financial system, including the role 
and function of FSSN partners, saving, investment, 
and general money management from an early age. 
An electronic and animated version of the book will 
also be produced.

Policyholder Engagement

Policyholders heads participated in a series 
of meetings with the Corporation’s CEO and 
management team in which key issues pertaining 
to their respective operations and continued 
partnership were discussed, particularly in light 
of the pandemic. Further engagement was had 
through the hosting of a Policyholders Forum which 
focused on the operations of the JDIC, emerging 
developments and trends in deposit insurance 
and the importance of the public education and 
awareness programme and their partnership in this, 

and other initiatives.

Additionally, during the period seven (7) training 
sessions were conducted for Policyholders team 
members. It is mutually beneficial for Policyholders 
to understand how the deposit insurance 
scheme works, as disseminating this information 
to their clients remains critical to increasing 
understanding of the DIS by depositors and other 
financial consumers; hence the continued training, 
partnership and exchange of information. An online 
training platform is to be developed to complement 
the present training methodology.

All the meetings and training sessions were 
held virtually and included approximately 400 
participants.

Collaboration with FSSN Partners and other 
Stakeholders

The engagement of employees of public and 
private organisations, as well as other stakeholders 
by way of workshops and sensitization seminars 
are valuable channels of communication in the 
dissemination of deposit insurance information 
in order to reinforce key messages and bolster 
awareness of the JDIC and the DIS. To this end, 
collaboration with FSSN partners remained a 
significant aspect of the Corporation’s efforts 
to increase public awareness. Participation in 
initiatives under the National Financial Inclusion 
Strategy spearheaded by the BOJ continued, as 
well as participation in virtual events hosted by the 
JSE, which provided the Corporation with diverse 
avenues to promote the JDIC and DIS.

Revamping of the Public Education Programme

In recognition of the changing face of communication, 
the rapidity with which communication channels 
evolve and the resultant changes in how publics 
consume and access information, towards the 
end of the financial year the Corporation engaged 
a public relations firm to assist in enhancing its 
capacity to increase awareness levels among its 
key stakeholder groups, while keeping in step with 
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emerging trends. The contract will be executed over a twelve-month period, during which time ongoing 
assessments will be conducted to measure the impact of the communication strategies and tactics 
designed to fulfill the stated objectives.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
The Corporation’s Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) policy is underpinned by the seven core principles 
recognized by ISO 26000. These are: organisational governance; human rights; labour practices; the 
environment; fair operating practices; consumer issues; community involvement and development which 
in turn governs its commitment to its team members and external constituents.

Execution of planned CSR initiatives was adversely impacted by the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic. 
Notwithstanding, during the review period, the JDIC continued its community outreach activities focused 
on the provision of social support for the youths and senior citizens, early childhood development and 
protection of the environment.

FINANCIAL SYSTEM SAFETY NET PARTNERSHIP

The optimal design of a country’s financial system safety net includes the functions of prudential 
regulation, supervision, resolution, lender of last resort and deposit insurance to achieve financial sector 
policy objectives and ultimately maintain financial system stability. Within the structure of Jamaica’s 
financial system safety net, these functions are vested in four agencies, namely, the BOJ, FSC, JDIC and 
the MoFPS based on their respective statutory mandates (Refer Figure 16 below).

Statutory Committee:
Financial Regulatory

Committee (FRC)
Facilitates information sharing, 

coordination and cooperation among 
financial safety net members.

Statutory Committee:
Financial System Stability 

Committee (FSSC)
Identifies, mitigates and controls 
systemic threats to the financial 

system.

Financial
System

Stability

Ministry of Finance & 
the Public Service - 

Public Policy objectives; 
Resolution authority 
(Minister of Finance)

Jamaica Deposit
Insurance

Corporation-
Deposit Insurer

with resolution powers 
(loss minimizer); 

Liquidator; Receiver

FINANCIAL SERVICES 
COMMISSION

Prudential Regulation
and Supervision of the

Non DTI Sector (Insurance 
-Life & General; Securities; 

Private Pension Plans)

Bank of Jamaica-
Financial System Stability; 

Lender of last resort;
Prudential Regulation

and Supervision of
DTIs and FHCs

Figure 16: Financial System 
Safety Net (FSSN)
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The mechanisms for the necessary information 
sharing, inter-agency collaboration and 
coordination among the JDIC and the other 
FSSN partners are provided for in each agency’s 
governing legislation and through membership 
in two inter–agency statutory committees, the 
Financial Regulatory Committee (FRC) and the 
Financial System Stability Committee (FSSC) as 
well as technical working groups established to 
support the work of the respective committees 
including the coordinated implementation of 
regulatory reforms.

The JDIC’s membership in the FSSN statutory 
committees and technical working groups 
supports the effective execution of the 
Corporation’s roles and functions as well as 
facilitates the necessary ongoing inter-agency 
collaborations and information sharing. This 
is against the background that the strength 
of prudential regulation, supervision and the 
resolution regime influences the functions and 
directly impacts the effectiveness of the deposit 
insurance system. Information exchanged among 
the FSSN agencies therefore continue to provide 
critical inputs used by the JDIC to carry out its 
functions such as, the review and enhancements 
of the design features of the DIS, monitor and 
evaluate member institutions potential risks to 
the DIF, develop policies and procedures for the 
Corporation’s payout and non-payout resolution 
options, prepare for and rapidly respond to bank 
failures in collaboration with the other FSSN 
agencies.

Financial Regulatory Committee

The Financial Regulatory Committee (FRC) was 
established in 2014 pursuant to section 34BB of 
the Bank of Jamaica Act12 and comprises four 
ex-officio members, representing the FSSN 

agencies. The members are, the Governor of 
the Bank of Jamaica (Chairman), the Financial 
Secretary (Ministry of Finance and the Public 
Service), the Executive Director of the Financial 
Services Commission and the CEO of the Jamaica 
Deposit Insurance Corporation. The statutory 
functions of the FRC are to facilitate information-
sharing, coordination and cooperation among the 
members of the financial safety net. This includes 
the: ongoing review and implementation of 
financial sector reforms; policies and procedures 
to strengthen the regulation of the financial 
system; sharing information on each member’s 
respective areas of operation; and planning 
and executing financial sector resolution, crisis 
preparedness and management strategies.

During the review period in addition to the 
monitoring and analysis of the developments and 
performance of the DTI and Non DTI sub- sectors, 
the FRC was apprised of the development and 
implications of several sectoral regulatory reforms 
and policies. The progress of the various activities 
to advance the implementation of key national 
imperatives, namely, financial deepening13; 
financial Inclusion; and initiatives to improve 
Jamaica’s level of compliance with the FATF 40 
Recommendations and the level of effectiveness 
of Jamaica’s AML/CFT system, was also on the 
FRC’s Agenda during the period. (These initiatives 
are currently being led by the BOJ).

Members of the FRC continued to pursue several 
initiatives collaboratively through various working 
groups to strengthen the supervisory, resolution 
and crisis management frameworks for the 
financial system in alignment with international 
best practice standards and proportionate to the 
structure and capacity of the financial system. 
Key inter-agency initiatives conducted during the 
review period with implications for the role and 
functions of the JDIC included the following:

12 The Financial Regulatory Committee replaces the Financial 
Regulatory Policy Council that was established in 2000, 
consequent on the tabling of a Ministry Paper in Parliament.

13  Financial Deepening key initiatives include the implementation of 
a reverse factoring electronic platform, standardizing asset quality 
by incentivizing the use of independent credit ratings as well as the 
establishment of a trading platform for fixed income securities.
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Review of the National Financial Crisis 
Preparedness and Management Plan (the Plan) 
that falls under the remit of the FRC

The Plan provides guidance on the processes 
and coordinated actions of each FSSN member 
in a crisis. Despite the enhanced supervisory 
and monitoring measures undertaken by the 
authorities in response to the economic challenges 
created by the measures to reduce the spread 
of the COVID-19 pandemic to safeguard financial 
system stability, the review of the Plan commenced 
as a proactive approach to ensure readiness to deal 
with any potential vulnerabilities. This is to ensure 
the Plan reflects the current legal and operating 
environment, and the gaps identified during the 
review process are addressed. The review of 
the Plan is being conducted by a FRC Technical 
Working Group led by the JDIC. Additionally, as at 
year end arrangements were advanced to deliver 
a FSSN multi -agency crisis management training 
session and table top simulation as a fundamental 
component of the review process to hone the 
skills of the crisis management team members 
and test specific aspects of the crisis management 
framework at the agency and inter-agency levels.

Development of legislation to strengthen the 
resolution framework for DTIs and Non DTIs 
including an effective bank insolvency law

The legislation will seek to establish a special 
resolution regime that better aligns the legal 
framework with the Financial Stability Board’s 
Key Attributes of Effective Resolution Regimes for 
Financial Institutions in a proportionate manner 
that achieves the desired policy objectives of the 
orderly resolutions of failing financial institutions 
without exposing taxpayers. Under the new 
framework the policy proposals include: introducing 
expanded administrative resolution powers and 
strategies; developing special insolvency rules for 

financial institutions; and designating the Bank of 
Jamaica as the Resolution Authority and the JDIC 
as the Resolution Administrator. These provisions 
are consistent with the Corporation’s existing 
powers under the DIA to restructure Policyholders, 
their holding companies and subsidiaries. During 
the review period the JDIC through its membership 
in the FRC Technical Working Group continued to 
provide technical inputs in the development of 
the legislation for the introduction of the special 
resolution regime. The JDIC also continued to 
build out its standard operating procedures and 
resolution tool kit to support its role in resolution 
under this new regime once implemented.

These initiatives will continue in FY2021/2022 in 
keeping with the respective work plans and will 
contribute to strengthening the resilience of the 
financial system.

Financial System Stability Committee

The Financial System Stability Committee (FFSC) 
was established under the Bank of Jamaica Act, 
section 34BB. The statutory functions of the 
FSSC include: undertaking macro prudential 
assessments; promoting the regular exchange of 
information in support of financial system stability 
objectives; identifying, assessing and making 
recommendations in mitigating and controlling 
systemic threats to the financial system; 
contributing to the development of policies and 
standards to address gaps that could threaten 
the stability of the financial system and the real 
economy; providing exceptional reports to the 
Minister in charge of Finance on financial stability 
oversight; and making recommendations to the 
BOJ in discharging its financial stability mandate14.

During the year the FSSC fulfilled its functions 
by providing guidance on key aspects of BOJ’s 
financial system stability assessments. This 
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14 In December 2010, Cabinet took a decision to assign institutional 
responsibility to Bank of Jamaica for the stability of Jamaica’s 
financial system and, in October 2015, The Bank of Jamaica 
Act was amended to provide a statutory basis for the Bank’s 
financial stability mandate.

15 https://boj.org.jm/core-functions/financial-stability/financial-
system-stability-committee-fssc/

included reviewing BOJ’s macro prudential 
assessments; advising on the appropriate macro 
prudential tools that can be used to manage and/
or mitigate the emergence of systemic risks; and 
communicating with the public on the use and 
impact of tools on the financial system15.

The FSSC consists of six ex-officio members 
and two members appointed by the Minister in 
charge of finance on the recommendation of the 
Governor of the BOJ. The ex-officio members 
are the Governor of the BOJ (chairman); the 
Senior Deputy Governor, the Deputy Governor, 
or other senior officer of the BOJ with assigned 
responsibility for the BOJ’s financial system 
stability; the Deputy Supervisor of Banks and 
Financial Institutions; the Financial Secretary; 
the Executive Director of the Financial Services 
Commission; and the Chief Executive Officer of 
the JDIC.

National Financial Inclusion Council

The National Financial Inclusion Council (NFIC) has 
responsibility to set the overall policy direction 
for the development and implementation of 
the National Financial Inclusion Strategy (NFIS). 
Established in March 2017, the NFIC is chaired by 
the Minister of Finance and the Public Service, 
with other members being the Governor of the 
BOJ; the Financial Secretary and the Financial 

Inclusion Steering Committee (FISC) of which 
JDIC’s CEO is a member. The FISC, which is chaired 
by the Governor, has responsibility to report to 
the Council on the implementation of the action 
items in the NFIS.

The NFIS supports Jamaica’s Vision 2030 national 
development plan and outlines an agenda of 
reforms structured around four main pillars: 
Financial Access and Usage (includes electronic 
transaction instruments and digitization of 
government payments); Financial Resilience 
(reforms that would contribute to increased usage 
of savings, insurance and retirement accounts 
for low-income persons); Financing for Growth 
(focuses on three sectors - MSME, agriculture 
and housing - that have significant potential for 
contribution to the development of Jamaica’s 
economy and the well-being of the population); 
and Responsible Finance/Consumer Protection 
and Financial Capability (which includes enhanced 
disclosure, adequate business practices and 
better informed consumers).

During the review period the Corporation 
continued to contribute to the work being done 
to support the deliverables under the NFIS, 
in particular in initiatives under the NFIS sub-
Committee for Consumer Protection and Financial 
Capability.
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INTERNATIONAL RELATIONS

A key element of the Corporation’s activities is to 
benchmark its operations against international 
best practice standards and keep abreast of the 
trends and developments in financial systems. 
Particularly in areas relating to deposit insurance 
systems, other investor compensation schemes, 
crisis management, resolution and financial 
system stability both globally and regionally. This 
is to: ensure the efficacy and robustness of the 
design of the deposit insurance system; maintain 
a proactive approach in responding to changes in 
the operating environment; and build stakeholder 
relationships towards ensuring the Corporation’s 
public policy objectives are met.

It is against this background that the Corporation 
is involved in initiatives that supports the 
development and implementation of standards 
to promote effective deposit insurance systems 
globally and regionally. During the year, the 
Corporation continued to actively participate 
in the work of the International Association of 
Deposit Insurers (IADI) and worked closely with 
the CARICOM Secretariat to finalize the Model 
Deposit Insurance Policy for the Caribbean 
Community (the Policy).

Membership in the International Association of 
Deposit Insurers

The International Association of Deposit Insurers 
founded in 2002, is a non-profit global standard-
setting body for deposit insurance systems.

As a standard setter, the IADI aims to support its 
members in areas of: establishing or improving 
their deposit insurance systems and ensuring 

compliance with the Core Principles for 
Effective Deposit Insurance Systems; promoting 
international cooperation on areas of deposit 
insurance and bank resolution; and contributing to 
the stability of financial systems. Over the years, 
the Association’s activities have also become 
more diverse and responsive to the expanded 
role of deposit insurers in crisis management 
and resolution as well as more integrated into 
the international financial system. Particularly, 
during these challenging times of the COVID-19 
pandemic, the importance of DIOs complying with 
the IADI Core Principles have been reinforced, 
particularly Core Principle 6 which inter alia 
states “deposit insurers have in place effective 
contingency planning and crisis management 
policies and procedures, to ensure that it is able 
to effectively respond to the risk of, and actual, 
bank failures and other events”.

The JDIC’s membership in the IADI dates back to 
200216 being one its founding members. As an active 
member of the IADI, the Corporation participates 
in initiatives that contribute to the advancement 
of the objectives of the Association through its 
membership on several committees and technical 
working groups. The Corporation also participates 
in and presents at IADI knowledge events and 
has access to the IADI’s comprehensive resource 
database17. These activities provide an opportunity 
to strengthen the Corporation’s institutional 
capacity. This includes the development of staff 
expertise and engagement in partnerships and 
collaborations with peers on common goals of 
depositor protection and financial system stability 
as well as benchmarking and strengthening the 
Corporation’s operations in line with international 

16 IADI has expanded significantly since its establishment in 2002. 
Membership has grown to 85 deposit insurers as of May 2021, 
representing 74% of jurisdictions with explicit deposit insurance 
systems.

17 The members only database includes a vast compendium of 
research and guidance papers, current trends and developments, 
and practices and experiences of other jurisdictions relating to 
deposit insurance systems, bank resolution and the financial 
system stability issues.
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18 As part of the JDIC’s training and development program selected 
staff members attended: the FSI-IADI Joint Webinar on the 
ongoing and expected implications of the COVID-19 crisis for 
resolution authorities and deposit insurers; IADI-LARC Webinar 
“Fintech Activities and the Impact of COVID-19: Specific concerns 
and challenges from a deposit insurance perspective”; IADI MENA 
Regional Committee Webinar “IADI Core Principle 4: Coordination 
and cooperation between deposit insurers and other safety-net 
players in normal times and in crises”

19 The council committees include the: Member Relations Council 
Committee (MRC); Audit and Risk Council Committee (ARCC); and 
Training and Technical Assistance Council Committee (TTAC).

standards18. Some of the key benefits of the IADI membership are highlighted in Figure 17.

Figure 17 - Key benefits of IADI Membership

IADI Council, Technical and Regional 
Committees

The work of the IADI is led by the Executive Council 
(EXCO) and its Council, Technical and Regional 
Committees. The JDIC was elected to serve on the 
Executive Council at IADI’s 19th Annual General 
Meeting held December 2020. The 25-member 

Executive Council ensures the smooth functioning 
of the affairs of the Association and establishes 
committees to support the advancement and 
implementation of the IADI’s mandate and 
strategic objectives.

The JDIC currently serves on three of the 
four council committees19 and two technical 
committees of the Core Principles and Research 
Council Committee.

Create awareness and 
highlight the importance 

of deposit insurance in 
maintaining financial stability 

with safety-net partners.

Access to ongoing, timely IADI 
research on emerging trends 

in deposit insurance and 
resolution of deposit-taking 

institutions.

Engage in Regional Technical 
Assistance Workshops to 

improve compliance with the 
IADI Core Principles.

Share expertise and information 
on deposit insurance issues 

through training, development 
and educational programmes.

Participate in capacity 
building, conferences, 
executive training and 

e-learning.
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The JDIC was also appointed the chairperson for the Caribbean Regional Committee (CRC)20 in 
September 2020, upon the expiration of the Deposit Insurance Corporation of Trinidad and Tobago’s 
term. During the reporting period, as chairperson of the CRC, the JDIC continued to pursue previous 
initiatives to promote collaborations and cooperation among the CRC members and other Caribbean 
partners that are in the process of exploring and /or establishing a deposit insurance system.

Regional Capacity Building: Caribbean Community (CARICOM) Proposals for a Model Deposit 
Insurance Framework for Member States

The JDIC has been integrally involved in the work of the Caribbean Community (CARICOM) Secretariat 
along with representatives from other member countries to develop a Model Deposit Insurance Policy 
for the Caribbean Community (the Policy). The Policy developed in line with the IADI Core Principles for 
Effective Deposit Insurance Systems promotes the introduction of a best practice deposit insurance 
system through either the reform of an existing deposit insurance system, or the establishment of a 
new system in each Member State (or among a group of Member States) so as to encourage market 
confidence and support financial stability in the Community. Of the 15 Member States of CARICOM, 6 
members have established an explicit DIS21.

The work of the JDIC included: chairing the technical working group tasked with drafting the Policy 
and the sharing of knowledge and technical expertise in drafting the key design features of a deposit 
insurance system giving due consideration to the issues faced by small and developing economies.

The Draft CARICOM Policy on Deposit Insurance was finalized during the review period and tabled at 
the Eight Special Meeting of the Council of Finance and Planning (COFAP) held on April 1, 2021.

20  Other members of the CRC include the Barbados Deposit Insurance 
Corporation; Deposit Insurance Corporation, Bahamas; Deposit 
Insurance Corporation, Trinidad & Tobago; as well as associate 
members, the Ministry of Finance Government of the Virgin 
Islands and the Central Bank of Belize.

21  These member states include Bahamas, Barbados, Belize, Guyana, 
Jamaica, and Trinidad and Tobago
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MANAGEMENT OF STRATEGIC RESOURCES

HUMAN RESOURCE

Talent management remains critical to achieving 
the JDIC’s objectives and the Human Resources 
Unit strives to deliver exceptional service and 
resources in an effort to create a culture where 
employees are engaged and empowered. In 
this regard, the corporate strategy “Building 
Sustainable Human Resource Capacity” and the 
supporting strategic initiatives were central to 
the Corporation’s operations during the review 
period.

The approved staff establishment for FY2020/21 
was 43 persons, however the Corporation started 
and ended the year with a complement of 29 
and 28 persons, respectively. Recruitment was 
impacted for some positions due the delay of 
some organisation initiatives, as well as by the 
uncompetitive compensation packages. Retention 
also continued to be challenging as in previous 
years. A comprehensive organisation review, 
job evaluation and reclassification exercise was 
completed and submitted to the MoFPS for 
approval in August 2018. The recommendations 
were to enhance the Corporation’s operation 
model and structure in order to ameliorate 
persistent recruitment and retention challenges. 
The Corporation continues its dialogue with the 
Ministry for approval and implementation. These 
staffing challenges have caused the deferral and 
protracted execution of several key initiatives.

TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT

As a regulatory body and a member of the FSSN, the 
Corporation continued to recognize that capacity 
building for the requisite skills and competencies 
requires ongoing investment in its human capital. 
Staff participation in relevant technical training 
programmes continued to be key to building and 
maintaining an effective team with the required 

professional and technical skills as the operating 
environment experienced rapid evolution due 
to technological advancements and regulatory 
risk increase. During the review period, staff 
skills and competencies were upgraded through 
participation in training courses and conferences 
in areas including: Executive Leadership, Risk 
Management, Strategic Planning, Financial 
Modeling, Treasury Management, Financial 
Technology, Digital Banking and Supervisory 
Technology, Professional and Legal training. Team 
members also participated in Crisis Preparedness 
and Resolution Options for Financial Regulators & 
Supervisors, Central Bankers, Deposit Insurance 
and Senior Ministry of Finance Officials.

OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH AND SAFETY

The Corporation remains committed to promoting 
an environment of good occupational health 
and safety practices, which saw employees 
participating in ongoing health and wellness 
programmes. In response to the COVID-19 
pandemic, the Corporation adopted infection 
prevention and control strategies using 
appropriate combinations of administrative 
controls, safe work practices, and personal 
protective equipment (PPE) to prevent employee 
exposure.

Addressing Employee COVID-19 Issues

Business continuity management in relation to 
minimizing the effects of COVID-19 on employees 
well-being and corporate productivity was 
paramount. Focus remained on ensuring that 
employees had the requisite information and 
resources to maintain personal safety and that 
information technology systems were enhanced 
and tailored to meet business needs unique to 
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the period. This included the implementation of mechanisms to ensure the continuation of seamless 
collaboration and information sharing with members of the FSSN, Policyholders and other external 
stakeholders.

Recognizing that the environment was continuously changing, the Corporation focused on how to best 
preserve value in these complex environments and adapting to business environments that bear little 
resemblance to the norm. The Corporation’s response included:

• Keeping staff up to date with relevant information;

• Purchasing and distributing appropriate sanitization products;

• Granting remote access to employees allowing them to work from home with robust data security 
and operational protocols;

• Providing a subsidy to each employee to assist with setup of remote work office; and

• Strategizing the scheduling of staff attendance to ensure appropriate social distancing.

The Corporation continues to be proactive in managing workplace safety during the COVID-19 pandemic 
by being alert and informed about changes in outbreak conditions, including how it relates to community 
spread, testing availability, vaccination programmes and updates on infection prevention and control 
measures accordingly.

INFORMATION AND COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY

The Corporation continues to pursue the key initiative of “Leveraging Information and Communication 
Technology (ICT) for Operational Efficiency” to improve its digital strategy, while being prepared for 
unforeseen events in a rapidly changing environment. Speed, flexibility, cost efficiency, reduced risk, cyber 
security and operational simplification are the characteristics that define the business’ ICT operating 
platform, all critical to the operations and achievement of the Corporation’s strategic objectives.

During FY2020/21, the Corporation executed several projects to upgrade the ICT infrastructure. These 
projects were introduced /implemented to improve business processes, disaster recovery preparedness 
and enhance the remote work experience. To facilitate the remote working arrangements, measures 
such as a secure VPN channel is used by staff members to access the Corporation’s data. This technology 
protects the confidentiality and integrity of the Corporation’s information asset by reducing the risks 
of cyber attacks.

A Disaster Recovery Simulation exercise was conducted during the year to assess the Corporation’s 
preparedness for a disaster /disruption. The simulation yielded successful results and areas for 
improvement were identified to strengthen the Corporation’s disaster recovery and preparedness 
posture.
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SUMMARY PERFORMANCE SCORECARD

BUSINESS STRATEGY/
KEY INITIATIVES

PERFORMANCE 
AGAINST
TARGETS

FOLLOW THROUGH 
ACTIVITIES
FY2021/22

1.   PROACTIVE READINESS AND RESOLUTIONS MANAGEMENT

1.1  Continue the Phased Implementation of Standard  
  Recordkeeping Guidelines and Compliance   
  Framework for Policyholders

1.2  Engage Member Institutions, Nominees
  and Trustees to Ensure Their Operations Allow for  
  Separate DI Coverage for Beneficiaries

1.3  Strengthen the Resolution Management Framework:

  1.3.1 Make Proposals for Legislative Amendments to  
  ensure the Corporation has the necessary powers to  
  act in Resolution

  1.3.2 Continue to Develop Internal Policies, Processes  
  and Pre-Drafted Legal Documents, Notices and other  
  Material for a Resolution Toolkit

  1.3.3 Increase Public Awareness and Transparency of  
  JDIC’s Role in Resolution

1.4 Conduct Crisis Communication/Media Training and  
  Simulation Activities

1.5  Admission of Credit Unions to the Deposit Insurance  
  Scheme

1.6 Update the Monitoring and Risk Assessment Policies  
  and Procedures and the Policyholder Risk Assessment
  Framework (PRAF) and Compliance Framework

1.7  Implement Member Institutions’ Business Intelligence  
  Software (MIBIS) for Monitoring, Risk Assessment and  
  Resolution

1.8 Establishment of Compensation Schemes (contingent  
  of the FSC’s timetable to advance this initiative)

Complete the detailed review/update of the 
Recordkeeping Guidelines and Compliance 
Framework to incorporate feedback received 
from Policyholders during the annual compliance 
assessments.

Develop procedural guidelines for member 
institutions and professional intermediaries acting 
as trustees and nominees on their obligations, 
disclosure and recordkeeping requirements.

Collaborate with the MoFPS to have legislative 
amendments tabled in Parliament.

Continue development of the Resolution Toolkit 
to operationalize Special Resolutions Regime 
provisions.

Finalize the information for inclusion in the 
Corporation’s public education programme to 
increase awareness of JDIC’s role in resolution.

Conduct media training and simulation exercise.

Continue collaboration/information sharing 
with the BOJ and JCCUL in preparation for the 
admission of Credit Unions to the DIS.

Complete updating of the Membership Admission 
Framework to include appropriate methodologies 
for the Credit Union Sector.

Develop the MIBIS functional requirements to 
implement a solution that aligns with the overall 
ICT strategy for JDIC’s digital transformation.

Continue collaboration with the FSC to provide 
technical input towards the establishment of 
compensation schemes.
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SUMMARY PERFORMANCE SCORECARD

BUSINESS STRATEGY/
KEY INITIATIVES

PERFORMANCE 
AGAINST
TARGETS

FOLLOW THROUGH 
ACTIVITIES
FY2021/22

1.9 Review and Maintain the Contingency Funding Plan   
 (CFP) for Resolution

1.10 Conduct Deposit Insurance Fund (DIF) Adequacy   
 Evaluation

2 STRONG PARTNERSHIPS

2.1 Collaborate with the CARICOM Secretariat and   
 Member Countries to Develop a CARICOM Deposit   
 Insurance Policy

2.2 lmplement Service Level Agreements (SLAs) for   
 Information Sharing with Central Bank

3 LEVERAGING INFORMATION AND COMMUNICATION   
 TECHNOLOGY FOR OPERATIONAL EFFICIENCY

3.1 Complete Payout Management Information System   
 (PMIS) Development and Implementation Activities

3.2 Finalize Framework for Establishing Advisory Panel

3.3 Review the Scope of Coverage and the Coverage Limit

3.4 Implement Investment Software

3.5 Upgrade Human Resource Management Information   
 System (HRMIS) and Payroll Software

3.6 Implement Records and Information Management   
 System (RIMS)

3.7 Review, Update and Simulate ICT Business Continuity   
 Plan and Infrastructure

4 BUILDING SUSTAINABLE HUMAN RESOURCE CAPACITY

4.1 Implement Organisation Review, Job Evaluation and   
 Reclassification

4.2 Strengthen the Human Resource Policies, Guidelines   
 and Procedures Framework

Continue discussions with relevant GOJ 
agencies and potential contingency funding 
partners when the legislation to implement the 
special resolution framework is passed.

Completed.

Completed.

Collaborate with the BOJ to update the draft 
SLA, including provisions under FIRA.

Finalize implementation activities.

Send terms of engagement/expression of 
interest letter to SMEs.

Completed.

Identify and implement investment software 
upon completion of the Accounting system 
upgrades.

Implement upgraded HRMIS.

Continue manual implementation of the RIMS.

Review and update the ICT Business Continuity 
Plan.

Commence implementation subject to approval 
by the MoFPS.

Internal policy review complete.

Engage consultant to conduct independent 
review and update of the Human Resource 
Policies, Guidelines and Procedures Framework.
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SUMMARY PERFORMANCE SCORECARD

BUSINESS STRATEGY/
KEY INITIATIVES

PERFORMANCE 
AGAINST
TARGETS

FOLLOW THROUGH 
ACTIVITIES
FY2021/22

4.3 Update Performance Management and Development   
 System

4.4 Implement JDIC Staff Pension Scheme

5 PUBLIC EDUCATION AND AWARENESS

5.1 Strengthen Social Media and Digital Advertising   
 Campaign

5.2 Design of a ‘Dark’ Website

5.3 Produce New Radio, Television, Billboard (Mobile,   
 Stationary and Bus Shelters) Advertisements, and   
 Corporate Video

5.4 Schools’ Programme - Finalize Development and   
 Promote Book on Financial Systems for Primary   
 Schools

5.5 Host Fora - Policyholders; Public and Other    
 Stakeholders

5.6 Admission of Credit Unions to the Deposit Insurance   
 Scheme (Contingent on the passing of the Credit   
 Unions (Special Provisions) Act.)

Complete review of the Performance 
Management Appraisal process.

Implement Pension Scheme upon FSC approval.

Continue ongoing digital advertising campaign 
and monitoring to gauge effectiveness.

Develop ‘dark’ site.

Produce Corporate Video.

Launch and promote financial education book.

Completed.

Implement public education programme on the 
admission of Credit Unions to the DIS.

DELAYED/RESCHEDULED NO EXPECTATIONS/NOT ON TRACKON TRACK/COMPLETED
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Evolution of Financial Technology and Decentralized Finance: Policy 
Responses for Consideration by Deposit Insurers and Other Regulators
Introduction

The global and domestic economies are in the 
middle of a technological revolution that is 
reshaping the future of financial systems. The 
evolution of financial technology (Fintech) is 
changing the traditional business model of 
deposit taking institutions (DTIs) and other 
financial service providers as well as expanding 
the number and diversity of financial services, 
providers, and delivery channels. Financial 
system regulatory authorities (central banks, 
supervisors/regulators and deposit insurers) 
must therefore be proactive in their policy 
responses. This is against the background 
that, Fintechs present several opportunities 
and challenges, and are also decentralizing 
finance by reducing or eliminating the need 

for intermediaries or centralised processes 
that have traditionally been involved in the 
provision of financial services.

The Financial Stability Board (FSB) has defined 
Fintech as “technologically enabled financial 
innovation that could result in new business 
models, applications, processes or products 
with an associated material effect on financial 
markets and institutions and the provision of 
financial services.”

Evolution of Fintech Products and Services

Some Types of Fintech Developments are 
highlighted below in Figure 18.

APPENDIX

Traditional Financial 
Service Providers

(i.e. Banks) & 
Non- Traditional 
Financial Service 

Providers (i.e. Tech 
Firms & Mobile 

Providers)

Alternative 
finance- crowd 

funding/lending/ 
finance

Digital currencies 
CBDC Crypto 

Assets- Bitcoin, 
stable coins

Digital Payments, 
mobile payments, 

point of sale, 
online payments, 

e-money

Open banking
- API

DECENTRALIZED FINANCE

Figure 18.
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Fintechs - Opportunities and Challenges

The evolution of Fintech products and 
services presents several opportunities for 
the provision of financial services. These 
include prospects for increase market access, 
more diversified and expanded scope of 
financial products and service offerings, ease 
of access and convenience, lower costs to 
service providers and consumers, greater 
competition as well as advancing financial 
inclusion programmes.

Fintech has enabled traditional deposit taking 
institutions (DTIs) to deliver related services 
through third-party agents and electronic 
channels such as computers or smartphone 
applications. There is also the growth of 
purely virtual DTIs that have no physical 
branch presence. Further, Fintech products 
and services are also being developed and 
provided directly by non-bank entities 
such as mobile network operators and tech 
companies. Prompted by the ongoing rise 
of electronic means of payment, and the 
emergence of alternative digital currencies 
such as Bitcoin and the impending ‘death of 
cash’, some central banks across the world 
have commenced experiments to start or 
have started to issue “digital cash” – an 
electronic version of notes and coins also 
known as a central bank digital currency.

These types of access to financial services 
through technological applications 
may reduce or eliminate the need for 
intermediaries or centralized processes 
that have traditionally been involved in the 
provision of financial services. Consequently, 
giving rise to a more decentralized financial 
system and at the same time expanding the 
group of financial service providers outside 
of the traditional financial system.

Despite the opportunities that Fintech 

presents, its evolution has implications for 
the complexity and structure of financial 
systems and financial system stability. More 
specifically and relevant to deposit insurers, 
some of these Fintech developments are 
contributing to the blurring of the lines 
between financial products and services 
offered within and outside the traditional 
financial system. Consequently, creating the 
potential to mislead and perplex financial 
consumers and the public as to whether a 
product is a deposit and is guaranteed by the 
deposit insurance scheme, creating several 
policy issues for deposit insurers and other 
members of the financial system safety net.

Policy Responses for Consideration by Deposit 
Insurers and Other Regulators

The developments in Fintech have given 
rise to the need for regulatory authorities 
to be proactive and implement appropriate 
and timely policy responses. In this regard, 
regulatory authorities including deposit 
insurers are currently undertaking several 
key initiatives to support Fintech and the 
decentralization of financial systems while 
managing the risk posed to financial system 
stability. The table on page 88 highlights 
Jamaica and other selected jurisdictions 
policy responses and initiatives to date to 
support and leverage the development of 
Fintechs and mitigate against risks to the 
financial system.

As deposit insurers seek to embrace and 
support the evolution of Fintechs, the 
following are some key policy issues for 
considerations:

Public Policy - The principal public policy 
objectives for deposit insurers are to protect 
depositors and contribute to financial system 
stability. Deposit insurers should assess if 
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these technological developments in their 
respective jurisdictions pose new challenges 
to achieving the public policy objectives. Of 
note, protection of financial consumers may 
be problematic when innovations target 
consumers outside the traditional financial 
system. A wider scope public policy objective 
to include protecting financial consumers 
and supporting financial inclusion may be 
necessary. However, this requires analyzing 
the opportunities and risks, unique features 
and potential implications the evolution of 
the range of Fintech products and services 
will have on financial markets.

Legal Clarity - Regulators are being urged 
to issue specific frameworks to increase 
legal certainty, remove hurdles for Fintech 
products and limit risks of misuse as well 
as to avoid uncertainties concerning the 
determination of legal liability and consumer 
protection.

Financial Stability - Regulators should design 
an adequate policy framework that addresses 
the risks of fair competition and financial 
stability on both domestic and international 
levels. Decentralized financial technologies 
may raise risks such as concentration risks; 
greater procyclicality; unclear responsibility 
and accountability due to permission less 
systems; and recovery and resolution 
challenges that causes market participants to 
lose confidence in financial markets and may 
increase risks to financial stability. The role of 
the regulators and deposit insurer is to ensure 
that technological platforms are sufficiently 
regulated, and to determine whether deposit 
insurance or other safeguards are required.

Regulatory Framework - Coordination and 
communication between the deposit insurer 
and other safety net players are crucial to 
determine how these new Fintech platforms 

fit into the financial system. Determining 
what Fintech products and services can 
and should be regulated is critical. This 
will involve issuing new or revisions to 
existing regulations and licensing regimes 
for participants and service providers of 
Fintech products including non-financial 
entities. Regulations must be proportionate 
and at the same time equitable to ensure a 
level playing field with traditional financial 
institutions as well as align with the deposit 
insurance legal and operating frameworks 
where applicable. E.g. service providers 
should be required to collect the names of 
transaction senders and receivers and must 
have Anti-Money Laundering (“AML”) and 
FATF policies and procedures as well as other 
recordkeeping requirements that meet the 
needs of the deposit insurer.

Market Conduct - As the market for Fintech 
grows, regulators as part of their licensing 
regime should ensure market participants: 
fully understand how their activities fall 
within the scope of regulation; follow market 
conduct rules that will address potential 
ambiguity; and promote market integrity.

Financial Consumer Protection - In centralized 
finance, DTIs are required by law to hold a 
certain amount of their capital as reserves, 
to maintain stability and depositors are 
protected under a deposit insurance 
scheme. Deposit insurers should research 
the appropriateness and available options 
to extend deposit insurance coverage to 
selected Fintech products that are not 
traditional deposits to ensure they meet 
their public policy objectives.

Coverage and Membership in the DIS – Not all 
Fintech products and services based on their 
features and/or legal nature will be eligible 
for deposit insurance. Where applicable, 
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22  While the direct approach provides insurance for Fintech customers recognizing their funds as eligible deposits (hence, protecting customers 
when the Fintech service provider fails), it generally does not provide protection when the DTI holding the float account fails. The pass-
through approach is applicable only in the event of the failure of the DTI that maintains the custodian account eligible Fintech service provider 
and not the failure of the service provider.

protection to the consumers of Fintech 
products, should be subject to safeguard 
arrangements /requirements guided by 
several factors. These include: ensuring a 
robust regulatory framework and oversight 
of these entities (of note, traditionally, 
these entities are not accustomed to such 
oversight); levying of payment of deposit 
insurance premiums that would increase the 
operational costs and could offset some of 
the lower transaction costs; and assessing 
the practical and technical complexities 
of implementing the various coverage 
approaches. There are three approaches to 
coverage i.e. exclusion, direct, and indirect/
pass-through that have been implemented in 
various jurisdictions. Deposit insurers should 
assess the viability of each option relevant 
to the structure of their financial system.22

Consumer Financial Literacy and Public 
Awareness - Given the variety of new products 
and services that co-exist and intermingle 
with traditional financial products and 
payment services, deposit insurers should 
ensure the public is aware of what is covered 
and what is not. Fintechs are creating financial 
services and products that utilize emerging 
technologies, lower barriers to entry and 
reduce costs presenting an opportunity to 
“banking the unbanked”. However, there exist 
the potential for exploiting the vulnerable. 
In this regard, DIOs play a key role in public 
awareness and consumer financial literacy in 
order to help consumers to understand the 
difference between uninsured alternative 
finance instrument and deposits that are 
insured under the scheme. This will help 
consumers and investors to make better 
financial decisions.

Enhance dialogue with a wider group of 
stakeholders – Regulators should engage 

key stakeholders involved in supporting or 
providing Fintech services and bring the key 
players into the formal financial system, 
particularly the technology sector that 
have had limited interaction with financial 
regulators to date. This is to help avoid the 
emergence of unforeseen complications 
in the design of decentralized financial 
technologies at a later stages. Consideration 
should be given to whether there are also 
regulators outside the financial safety-net 
(e.g. the telecommunications) that need to 
be brought into discussions with financial 
safety-net regulators and become part of 
the FSSN.

CONCLUSION

Although the developments in Fintech have 
been in motion for several years, the COVID-19 
pandemic has created new opportunities for 
Fintech products and services to accelerate 
and enhance financial inclusion, amid social 
distancing and containment measures.

Looking ahead, given the anticipated 
increased use and offerings of Fintech 
products, regulatory authorities including 
deposit insurers must keep pace with the 
developments and emerging trends in 
their domestic and the global markets and 
implement proactive policy responses. 
The public policy objectives, mandate 
and design features of deposit insurance 
schemes particularly membership, scope 
of coverage and funding options should 
be assessed to ensure consistency with 
the legal framework and the technical 
complexities of implementing the various 
coverage options for Fintechs i.e. using the 
direct and/or indirect/pass-through coverage 
where applicable. It may also be necessary 
to establish separate financial consumer 
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compensation schemes to avoid co-mingling with traditional deposit insurance. Regulations 
to provide robust oversight of key Fintech participants and service providers to ensure legal 
certainty and consumer protection as well as public education targeted at the most vulnerable 
should be prioritized using a coordinated and collaborative approach among deposit insurers 
and other regulators.

No.    Selected  Initiatives
 Jurisdiction         

1.  Jamaica The Bank of Jamaica (Central Bank) in 2020 commenced reforms to the payment, clearing and 
settlement systems. Particularly in regard to the development of the regulatory framework for 
Payment Service Providers (PSP) that are not deposit-taking institutions. The reforms seek to license 
and provide oversight of PSPs authorizing them to provide services relating to issuing or acquiring 
payment instruments and transferring money or value, including issuance of electronic money. PSPs 
that are required to maintain custodian accounts at JDIC member institutions are eligible for deposit 
insurance using the pass through approach pursuant to the Deposit Insurance (Joint, Trust and 
Nominee) Account Regulations.

  In 2018, the Jamaica Stock Exchange partnered with a Block Chain service provider to provide an end-
to-end compliant platform to facilitate crypto assets trading in Jamaica in response to brokers and 
investors demand to trade digital assets locally. The Financial Services Commission has responsibility 
for providing the regulatory framework to facilitate this new investment and has commenced 
implementation of the framework.

2. Jamaica, Central Banks are at varying stages of exploring and implementing CBDC initiatives
 Bahamas,
 Trinidad &
 Tobago,  Particularly for Jamaica, the Bank of Jamaica July 2020 invited CBDC providers to submit development 

and testing plans for CBDC solutions in a controlled environment in its recently established Fintech 
Regulatory Sandbox. Financial inclusion, improved management processes, costs, and commitment 
to Jamaica’s transition to a digital economy were cited as the primary benefits that Bank of Jamaica 
anticipated achieving with CBDC.

3. Bermuda In 2018, Bermuda’s Government created a comprehensive crypto framework and worked quietly 
towards a potential pilot program. In February 2021, the Bermuda dollar pilot test began.

4. European In September 2020, the European Commission announced a comprehensive package of legislative
 Union proposals and the updating of certain financial rules for the regulation of crypto-assets. The proposed 

Markets in Crypto-assets Regulation (MiCA), intends to replace national rules covering the issuance, 
trading and storing of such crypto-assets and covers issuers, service providers, wallet operators and 
crypto-exchanges. The driving force for this comprehensive proposal was the importance of legal 
certainty and clarity of regulatory regime in areas pertaining to block chain based applications.

5. Nigeria,  These DIOs provide protection to e-money customers using the pass through approach.

6. Switzerland The Swiss Federal Council drafted a proposal in 2019 to amend Federal Laws to further improve 
the regulatory framework for Distributed Ledger Technology (DLT) in Switzerland by increasing legal 
certainty, removing hurdles for DLT-based applications and limiting risks of misuse. The proposal was 
examined in Parliament in early 2020.

7. USA The Office of the Comptroller of the Currency (OCC) published clarification in July 2020 in regard 
to national banks and federal savings associations’ authority to provide cryptocurrency23 custody 
services for customers so long as they effectively manage the risks and comply with applicable law.

  The Federal Reserve in February 2021, published “Preconditions for a general-purpose central bank 
digital currency,” (CBDC).

Eastern 
Caribbean 
and 
Canada

Kenya

23 The term “cryptocurrency” also encompasses digital assets that are not broadly used as currencies.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

NAME AND POSITION
OF DIRECTOR

FEES

($)

TOTAL

($)

HONORARIA

($)

MOTOR VEHICLE 
UPKEEP/TRAVELLING

OR VALUE OF 
ASSIGNMENT OF 
MOTOR VEHICLE

($)

ALL OTHER 
COMPENSATION 

INCLUDING NON-
CASH BENEFITS AS 

APPLICABLE
($)

MYRTLE HALSALL, CHAIRMAN  85,200 - - - 85,200

AISHA WRIGHT, DIRECTOR  48,000 - - - 48,000

LISA LEWIS, DIRECTOR   42,500 - - - 42,500

HERBERT HYLTON, DIRECTOR  69,400 - - - 69,400

VERNON MCLEOD, DIRECTOR   59,700 - - - 59,700

DR JIDE LEWIS, DIRECTOR  54,500 - - - 54,500

ANTOINETTE MCKAIN, DIRECTOR/CEO  - - - - -

TOTAL  359,300    359,300

SENIOR EXECUTIVES

ANTOINETTE MCKAIN FY2020/21  10,385,370   2,503,616   2,745,684 -   2,633,203 - 18,267,874
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

RONALD EDWARDS  FY2020/21  6,042,151   1,679,021    1,697,148 -      2,471,758 -   11,890,077
DIRECTOR, FINANCE, FUNDS
AND ASSET MANAGEMENT 

STACIE-ANN CARTY,  FY2020/21  4,531,613   3,033,525    1,272,861 -     1,664,169 -  10,502,168
GENERAL COUNSEL /
CORPORATE SECRETARY

ELOISE WILLIAMS DUNKLEY   FY2020/21  6,414,134   1,579,122   1,697,148 -    1,551,705 -   11,242,109
DIRECTOR, INTERVENTION,
RESOLUTIONS AND 
INTERNATIONAL RELATIONS

DAWN MARIE BROWN FY2020/21  6,023,555 1,499,900    1,697,148 -  1,341,527 -   10,562,130
DIRECTOR, MONITORING AND
RISK ASSESSMENT

TOTAL FY2020/21  33,396,823 10,295,184 9,109,989 - 9,662,362 - 62,464,358

NAME AND
POSITION

OF SENIOR 
EXECUTIVE

SALARY

($)

YEAR PENSION OR
OTHER 

RETIREMENT 
BENEFITS

($)

OTHER
ALLOWANCES

/BENEFITS

($)

NON-CASH 
BENEFITS  

($)

GRATUITY 
(IN LIEU OF 
PENSION)

AND 
PERFORMANCE 

INCENTIVE
($)

TRAVELLING 
ALLOWANCE

OR
VALUE OF 

ASSIGNMENT OF 
MOTOR VEHICLE

($)

TOTAL

($)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR 
EXECUTIVES COMPENSATION

Note: Other Allowances/Benefits include Medical and Group Life Premiums, Vacation Leave Payments, COVID-19 Assistance Payments, Merit Payments 
and Interest Rate Subsidy.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Members of

JAMAICA DEPOSIT INSURANCE CORPORATION

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Jamaica Deposit Insurance 
Corporation (“the Corporation”), set out on pages 97 to 137, which comprise 
the Deposit Insurance Fund statement of financial position as at March 31, 
2021, the Deposit Insurance Fund statements of surplus or deficit and other 
comprehensive income, changes in equity, reserves and fund and cash flows for 
the year then ended, and notes, comprising significant accounting policies and 
other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view 
of the financial position of the Corporation as at March 31, 2021, and of its 
financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the Deposit 
Insurance Act.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing 
(ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in 
the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section 
of our report. We are independent of the company in accordance with the 
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants International Code of 
Ethics for Professional Accountants including International Independence 
Standards (IESBA Code), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities 
in accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
To the Members of  
JAMAICA DEPOSIT INSURANCE CORPORATION 
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the 
Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a 
true and fair view in accordance with IFRS and the Deposit Insurance Act, and 
for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing 
the Corporation’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis 
of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Corporation or 
to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Corporation’s 
financial reporting process. 
 
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with ISA will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial 
statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment 
and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 
 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial 

statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
To the Members of  
JAMAICA DEPOSIT INSURANCE CORPORATION 
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued) 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with ISA, we exercise professional judgment 
and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also (continued): 
 
 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to 

design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Corporation’s internal control. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by 
management. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern 
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a 
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Corporation’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the 
Corporation to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves 
fair presentation. 

 
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, 
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our 
audit. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
To the Members of  
JAMAICA DEPOSIT INSURANCE CORPORATION 
 
Report on additional matters as required by the Deposit Insurance Act  
 
We have obtained all the information and explanations which, to the best of our 
knowledge and belief, were necessary for the purposes of our audit.   
 
In our opinion, proper accounting records have been maintained, so far as 
appears from our examination of those records, and the financial statements, 
which are in agreement therewith, give the information required by the Deposit 
Insurance Act, in the manner required. 
 
 
 
 
Chartered Accountants 
Kingston, Jamaica 
 
June 23, 2021 
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JAMAICA DEPOSIT INSURANCE CORPORATION 
DEPOSIT INSURANCE FUND STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
MARCH 31, 2021

5 
 
JAMAICA DEPOSIT INSURANCE CORPORATION 
 
Deposit Insurance Fund Statement of Financial Position 
March 31, 2021  
 
 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 

 Notes 2021 2020 
 $’000 $’000 
 
ASSETS 

Cash and cash equivalents 3(a) 3,738,388 863,482 
Investment securities 5 25,487,747 24,031,160 
Trade and other receivables 6 25,618 28,360 
Property, plant and equipment 7      283,367      276,920 
TOTAL ASSETS  29,535,120 25,199,922 

 
LIABILITIES, EQUITY, RESERVES AND FUND 
 
LIABILITIES 
 Unearned premium income 8 427,237 2,942 
 Trade and other payables         53,223        58,837 

        480,460        61,779 
 
EQUITY, RESERVES AND FUND 
 Share capital 9 1,000 1,000 
 Capital reserves 10 158,145 158,145 
 Fair value reserves 11 793,517 241,879 
 Deposit insurance fund 12 28,101,998 24,737,119 
   29,054,660 25,138,143 
TOTAL LIABILITIES, EQUITY, RESERVES 

AND FUND  29,535,120 25,199,922 
 

  
  

 
 
 
 
   Chairman 
Myrtle Halsall 
 
 
 
   Chief Executive Officer 
Antoinette McKain 
 
 
 
 
 

The financial statements on pages 97 to 137 were approved for issue by the Board of Directors on June  
23, 2021 and signed on its behalf by:
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JAMAICA DEPOSIT INSURANCE CORPORATION
DEPOSIT INSURANCE FUND STATEMENT OF SURPLUS OR DEFICIT 
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
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JAMAICA DEPOSIT INSURANCE CORPORATION
DEPOSIT INSURANCE FUND STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY, 
RESERVES AND FUND
YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2021
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JAMAICA DEPOSIT INSURANCE CORPORATION
DEPOSIT INSURANCE FUND STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2021
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JAMAICA DEPOSIT INSURANCE CORPORATION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MARCH 31, 2021
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